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ProLogis European Properties (PEPR) is one of Europe’s 
largest owners of high quality distribution and logistics 
facilities. We are 100% focused on the industrial real 
estate sector and our portfolio comprises 232 modern 
facilities, covering 4.9 million square metres in some of 
the most strategic locations across Europe. 

We have a strong and diversified customer base enabling 
us to maintain high levels of occupancy and to support 
the stability of cash flows from our portfolio. With a 
presence in 11 European countries, we provide customers 
with a pan-European platform to meet their warehousing 
needs and to add efficiencies to their supply chain. At the 
end of December 2010, our real estate portfolio had an 
occupancy level of 94.5% and was independently valued 
at €2.8 billion. 

PEPR was established in 1999 as a closed-end, real 
estate investment fund, externally managed by ProLogis 
(NYSE: PLD). In September 2006, PEPR was listed on 
Euronext Amsterdam.



Financial highlights
Total revenue €254.6m

Adjusted EPRA earnings(1) for  

ordinary unitholders €85.9m

Distributable cash flow for ordinary unitholders €86.1m

Portfolio value €2,822.0m

EPRA net asset value for ordinary unitholders €1,204.8m

Operational highlights
A record year of leasing with 165 transactions completed, 

totalling 1,560,400m2

66% customer retention rate

Stabilising portfolio values, with overall net portfolio down 

1.7% over the year (excluding currency impacts)

Adjusted EPRA earnings attributable to ordinary unitholders  
(€ million)

06 07 08 09 10

85.9

103.5

151.1
136.9

109.3

85.9

Portfolio occupancy (%)

06 07 08 09 10

94.596.1
97.396.997.394.5

Portfolio net initial yield (%)

06 07 08 09 10

7.7

8.4

7.4

6.5
5.9

7.7

EPRA net asset value(2) attributable to ordinary unitholders  
(€ million)

06 07 08 09 10

1,2051,172

2,4102,435

1,703

1,205

(1) European Public Real Estate Association Best Practices 
Recommendation, issued October 2010 after PEPR specific adjustments.

(2) IFRS net asset value for ordinary unitholders adjusted in accordance with 
EPRA Best Practice Policy Recommendations, issued in October 2010. 

Overview
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Key measures
Fast facts
232 distribution facilities, totalling 4.9 million m2

94.5% occupancy

11 countries

7.7% net initial yield

5.3 years average lease expiry

3.4 years average to lease break
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Overview

High quality
assets in key
locations
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At a glance

Our aim is to continue to generate capital 
appreciation and a high level of current 
income for our unitholders through 
active management of our buildings. 
We aim to structure our investments in 
a tax-efficient manner, and use efficient 
financing to optimise the net yield from 
our portfolio and to deliver stable returns 
to our unitholders.

Our portfolio
PEPR has a leading position in the pan-European logistics 
property market, with a portfolio of 232 buildings in core markets 
across 11 countries. These strategic locations, combined with 
modern distribution facilities and a first class level of service, 
enable our customers to more effectively manage their  
supply chains, reduce costs and ultimately improve their 
distribution operations. 

We build long-term customer relationships based on a proven 
track record of service, expertise, reliability and market 
knowledge. At the end of 2010, with a total of 382 leases in 
place, we have a blue chip customer base that includes many 
of Europe’s leading retailers and manufacturers as well as 
global names in the third party logistics sector. Our three largest 
customers account for less than 15% of annual rental income 
while our top 20 customers, with 110 leases, account for 44.6% 
of income. This reduces our concentration risk and gives us a 
well-balanced spread of income.

Our strong customer relationships ensure we maintain high 
retention rates – 66% for the year, slightly ahead of our long-term 
average of 60–65%. This level of retention, combined with the 
extensive local management expertise of ProLogis supports our 
industry leading occupancy level – 94.5% at the end of 2010.

Our modern facilities include industry-leading features and 
design technologies such as high clear heights, flat and superflat 

floors, high dock-door ratios, ample room for manoeuvring lorries 
in the extensive truck courts, and large trailer storage areas. The 
average building size is around 21,000 square metres, while the 
portfolio is just over nine years old.

Our market
Europe has seen the development of a new era in which global 
trade has had a significant impact on the distribution and 
logistics market. The opening of European borders enabled 
companies to pursue regional or pan-European distribution 
networks – a significant development compared to the former 
country-by-country approach. Location is of key importance 
to occupiers of logistics facilities, and demand is focused on 
properties that provide access to transport links to facilitate the 
distribution of goods within Europe and beyond. 

The heartland of continental Europe’s logistics market is the 
area in and around the Benelux region, stretching into the 
North East of France and the Rhine-Ruhr region of Germany. 
The Benelux region includes major transport hubs such as 
Amsterdam’s Schiphol airport and the seaports of Rotterdam 
and Antwerp, and is an important gateway to the rest of Europe. 
Our strong presence at five of the top ten European ports is a 
key competitive advantage for the business and the customers 
it serves. The UK market remains the most transparent, liquid 
and mature in Europe, with its island geography facilitating 
regional and nationwide supply chains, as opposed to pan-
European networks. Our presence in the East and West Midlands 
meet occupiers’ requirements for centrally-located warehouses 
with ready access to the major north-south motorways.

In addition, there has been a shift in activity towards the East in 
the last decade, as transportation links have been upgraded and 
as the economies of Central and Eastern Europe become more 
closely integrated with Western Europe. As a result, logistics 
occupiers have been attracted by the lower labour and build 
costs of this region.

Our portfolio comprises the UK; France, Italy and Spain in 
Southern Europe; Belgium, Germany, The Netherlands and 
Sweden in Northern Europe and the Czech Republic, Hungary 
and Poland in Central Europe.
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UK
0.7 million m2

18% of portfolio by value

94.1% occupancy

8.0% net initial yield

See page 16 for more details

Northern Europe
0.9 million m2

21% of portfolio by value

96.3% occupancy

7.3% net initial yield

See page 16 for more details

Central Europe
0.9 million m2

15% of portfolio by value

90.0% occupancy

7.8% net initial yield

See page 17 for more details

Southern Europe
2.4 million m2

46% of portfolio by value

95.5% occupancy

7.7% net initial yield

See page 17 for more details



Spain 0.39%
Italy 1.51%

France 2.05%
Hungary 2.25%
United Kingdom 2.36
EU 27 2.47%
Netherlands 2.65%

Czech Republic 3.32%

United States 3.66%
Canada 3.67%

Germany 6.15%
Poland 6.19%

Slovakia 6.62%

Japan 7.49%

S. Korea 10.65%
Mexico 6.20%

Sweden 7.06%

North America
Europe

Asia

0% 2.0% 4.0% 6.0% 8.0% 10.0% 12.0%

Source: US Bureau of Economic Analysis, Eurostat, Statistics Canada, INEGI, 
Japan Cabinet Office and Bank of Korea
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Market overview

“We are increasingly optimistic about 
the recovery in the global industrial 
real estate market. Customer confidence 
continues to improve, and with a 
prolonged absence of new supply, our 
high-quality, well-located portfolio of 
distribution space is positioned to benefit 
from the improving European markets.”
Simon Nelson,  
Head of asset management.

Economic overview
The macro economic recovery is expected to be slow and 
steady, albeit with differing rates of recovery across the differing 
European countries as numerous governments’ austerity 
measures take effect. For the time being, consolidation, 
modernisation and outsourcing remain the main drivers of 
demand rather than GDP growth.

World trade and shipping volumes are lead indicators for 
logistics markets. Both have rebounded more quickly than 
anticipated, which should filter through to further demand for 
new or modern distribution space. The recovery in world trade is 
reflected in traffic volumes at Europe’s major ports and airports. 
Over 2010 as a whole, Rotterdam and Antwerp container 
volumes (TEUs) increased by 14.4% and 15.9% respectively, 
while in the first nine months of 2010 Hamburg reported an 
increase of 10.7%. Air cargo through the major airports has also 
been increasing. As a result, we are increasingly optimistic about 
the recovery in the global industrial real estate market.

We anticipate a return to positive net absorption in most markets, 
with a consequential improvement in rents. We are close to the 
inflection point where demand and supply reach equilibrium, 
with rents either stable or improving and incentives beginning 
to reduce. However, there is likely to be a lag before there is 
a positive impact on rental values, especially in secondary or 
oversupplied markets. 

As banks continue to wrestle with new regulation and their plans 
to restructure and reduce bad loans, debt availability will remain 
limited to core product for mainstream developers and owners. 
This will reduce the potential for speculative development which 
will continue to play to our advantage. 

Global Economies in Recovery
Cumulative Gains in Real GDP, from trough-to-now
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Demand
There has been a general increase in customer demand across 
most of continental Europe, with leasing enquiries increasing 
towards the end of 2010. Northern and Central Europe in 
particular are already beginning to see a recovery in longer term 
demand, whilst the UK is still a little slower particularly for smaller 
sized buildings.

Outsourcing and reconfiguration are still driving much of the 
activity as occupiers are either moving into fewer but larger 
spaces or into newer, more modern space in core locations. 

Customer sentiment
Overall customer sentiment improved toward the end of 2010 
with many finalising their supply chain reconfiguration plans 
and focusing on expansion and growth in 2011 and beyond. 
Demand from the consumer goods, electronics, retailing, 
automotive, pharmacy, and health care sectors remains strong, 
with hypermarkets, online retailers and white goods driving 
the market. 

Third party logistics companies have a generally positive outlook 
as their volumes of goods handled have increased and 2011 is 
likely to see a consolidation of logistics operators still looking to 
modernise their supply chains, ready for growth when it comes. 
However, various governments’ austerity measures, further 
sovereign debt issues, and the delicate nature of the recovery 
are fuelling concerns about true economic stability and thus 
consumer demand. 

New supply
Any new supply coming to the market is mostly as build-to-suit 
developments, though a very limited number of speculative (or 
partially let) deals are starting to appear, with examples of these 
in France and Poland towards the end of 2010. We expect to 
see a modest increase during 2011 in these markets and also 
in Germany and the UK.

In due course, demand will in turn drive new supply in core markets 
where supply is now tightening. In the UK in particular, there is a 
shortage of available buildings over 20,000 square metres. 

Investment transactions
Investments volumes in direct industrial real estate have picked 
up significantly, totalling approximately €8 billion during 2010 
and running about 21% ahead of 2009. However, the volume of 
transactions is low, still well below the five-year historic average, 
and focused on core assets in prime locations with long-term 
leases in place. 

Land is beginning to trade again and we expect a further pick-up 
in the course of 2011.

European Investment Volumes in Industrial Real Estate
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As a result, yields remained stable towards the end of 2010, 
with average Net Operating Income (NOI) yield across the 
sector equalling 7.66% (Source: CBRE). The limited supply has 
increased liquidity in prime assets, with purchaser profiles still 
characterised as either “local buyers” or open ended/pension 
capital funds with allocation requirements from Germany, France, 
the UK and the US.

Portfolio occupancy

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Long-term portfolio average 96.4% 

 95.4%95.7%

97.4%

95.2%

97.1% 97.3% 97.3%96.9%
96.1%

97.2%

94.5%
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Strong leasing
momentum

Business review
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Business review

A robust performance
We completed 165 leasing transactions during the year totalling 
over 1.5 million square metres, making 2010 a record year 
and 60% ahead of the 2009 leasing level. At the same time we 
maintained a high rate of customer retention and ended the year 
with portfolio occupancy at 94.5%, well above market averages.

This strong operational performance and improving market 
fundamentals helped maintain our portfolio valuation, which 
combined with our continued retention of earnings increased  
our EPRA net asset value by 2.8% to €6.32 per ordinary unit 
(2009: €6.15).

We delivered adjusted EPRA earnings and distributable cash flow 
of €0.45 per ordinary unit (2009: €0.54 and €0.55 respectively), 
ahead of our revised guidance for the year. In addition, we have 
made further progress in our debt reduction and refinancing 
initiatives. During the year, we repaid or refinanced over €480 
million of debt, reduced our net debt position by €68.3 million 
thereby improving our loan-to-value ratio to 53% from 55% at the 
end of 2009. We also put in place a new three-year €50 million 
revolving credit facility. As a result, our next debt maturity is not 
until December 2012.

2010 was a challenging year for the 
European commercial property sector 
with continued uncertainty over the 
pace and scale of the economic recovery. 
In this context, 2010 was a year of 
considerable achievement for PEPR, 
both operationally and financially. 
We secured a record number of leases, 
delivered earnings ahead of guidance, 
increased our net asset value and further 
reduced the amount of outstanding debt.

Strategy
During 2011, we will continue to focus on proactive asset 
management and excellent customer service. This is 
fundamental to maintaining our industry-leading occupancy rates 
and retaining our blue-chip customer base. As occupier demand 
improves, we will be in a strong position to drive portfolio value 
by pushing for higher rents in markets where excess supply 
has been absorbed. In addition, we intend to return to a more 
regular pattern of portfolio management as property values begin 
to recover. This will include selling a small number of our more 
mature assets to optimise the value of the portfolio.

We also aim to re-establish ourselves as an investment grade 
credit, by retaining earnings to further reduce outstanding debt 
and improving our financial metrics. An investment grade credit 
rating would enable us to return to the unsecured debt markets, 
further improve our debt maturity profile and reduce future 
refinancing risk.

Evolving our legal structure
We continue to pursue the option of converting PEPR’s structure 
from a fonds commun de placement (FCP) to a société 
d’investissement à capital fixe (SICAF), as and when appropriate 
changes are made to Luxembourg legislation, as this would give 
us the ability to raise ordinary equity at an issue price below IFRS 
NAV per unit and increase our funding flexibility. While some 
anticipated legal changes were adopted in Luxembourg during 
the year these changes did not go far enough to enable us to 
undertake this conversion. We will continue to follow events in 
Luxembourg closely and support ongoing initiatives to amend the 
legislation.

The Board of PEPR and the Management Company proposed a 
number of enhancements to the Management Regulations at the 
2010 Annual General Meeting (AGM). Unfortunately, the majority 
of these proposed enhancements were rejected by unitholders. 
We are disappointed with this outcome given the proposed 
amendments were the result of extensive consultation with our 
investors aimed at modernising our corporate governance. We 
will now continue to optimise long-term investment value for 
our unitholders by focusing our full attention on maintaining 
occupancy and pursuing active asset management strategies.

Chairman’s overview
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On 31 January 2011, our external manager, ProLogis (NYSE: PLD), 
and AMB Property Corporation (NYSE: AMB) announced a 
proposed merger of equals. There are no contractual “change of 
control” provisions, and we do not anticipate that the proposed 
merger will have a direct impact on our operations.

Dividend policy
As a further sign of confidence in the progress we have made in 
improving our liquidity profile and reducing overall debt levels, we 
negotiated an amendment to the terms of the unsecured 2012 debt 
facility with the result that, within agreed limits, we can now pay 
dividends to holders of ordinary units as and when we decide to 
do so. Currently, we believe that any cash flow generated is better 
employed in repaying debt as we continue to focus on deleveraging 
the balance sheet and regaining an investment grade credit rating.

Outlook
Looking forward, economic forecasters predict continued modest 
real GDP growth across Europe of between 1.5 and 2.0% during 
2011–2012 and although concerns of a double-dip recession 
have faded, the recovery remains fragile. 

On the plus side, world trade and shipping volumes have 
increased more quickly than anticipated and occupier demand 
for new space is expected to follow. Our strong leasing 
performance this year is evidence that PEPR is well-positioned to 
benefit as occupier demand recovers. However, this will take time 
to feed through into rental levels and we expect market rents and 
property values to remain stable across Europe in the near term, 
with the opportunity for improvement when the macro economic 
recovery takes hold. 

The business has made good progress in 2010 during a 
challenging year. I would like to thank the management team of 
PEPR for their hard work and commitment and my fellow Board 
members for their support.

Geoffrey Bell
Chairman

Debt maturity profile as at 31 December 2010 (€ million)

■ Unsecured debt  ■ Secured bank debt  ■ Unsecured bank debt
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31 December 2009 debit maturity profile

Relative unit price performance

■ PEPR   ■ AEX Index   ■ DJ Euro STOXX 600 Index 
■ EPRA/NAREIT Europe Index   
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Business review

We set ourselves three main objectives for 2010: to improve net 
asset value, drive occupancy and re-establish our investment 
grade credit rating. We are pleased to report that we have made 
substantial progress against these objectives.

We delivered exceptionally strong leasing performance in 2010, 
which gave rise to a record level of activity in what was still a 
weak market. This high level of activity proves the resilience of 
our portfolio in market downturns and supports our focused 
approach to leasing. The key to our leasing successes during 
the year were strong customer relationships, extensive local 
market knowledge and excellent customer service delivered by 
our external manager ProLogis. We start working with customers 
early in the leasing cycle to gain good visibility on their future 
requirements, including potential reconfiguration of the property 
to adapt the space to their needs. This translates directly into 
high customer retention levels and above-market average 
occupancy rates.

Although continued high retention rates ensure a steady income 
stream, it is new leasing that drives improvements in occupancy 
and therefore the results of the business. To that end, it was 
particularly encouraging to see a significant number of new 
leases signed, many in the latter part of the year, as market 
fundamentals improved. 39 new leases were agreed for almost 
400,000 square metres, eliminating some longer-term vacancies 
and providing a positive impact to our occupancy levels which 
had modestly declined during the year given the uncertain 

economic conditions. At the end of the year our portfolio 
occupancy was 94.5%.

Combined with our record year in 2009, we have succeeded 
in leasing more than 50% of our portfolio over the last two 
years. Whilst our objective has been to maintain occupancy 
and ensure the stability of revenues during the downturn, many 
of these leases have been at lower rents reflecting downward 
market pressures. 

However, we have also been focusing on managing our lease 
lengths on recent leasing activity to avoid locking in rents at the 
bottom of the market cycle for the longer term. This provides us 
with the potential for future upside in the medium to long term 
as market fundamentals improve and the balance shifts from 
an occupier-friendly to a more landlord-friendly environment. 
Although there is likely to be a time lag before this translates into 
higher average rental values across our portfolio, we have already 
seen lease incentives start to reduce. 

We have made good further progress in repaying or refinancing 
our outstanding debt. At the start of the year, we successfully 
completed three new secured financings totalling €393 million. 
These transactions demonstrated our ability to access the capital 
markets and we are now in the healthy position of having no 
further debt maturities until the end of 2012. 

Retaining distributable cash flow enabled us to reduce our total 
outstanding debt by €68.3 million and reduced our loan-to-value 
(LTV) ratio to 53% by the end of December 2010. A repayment 
of €10 million of outstanding debt on our revolving credit facility 
after the year-end has reduced LTV further to 52.6%, notably 
lower than the 55% level at the end of 2009. 

We also increased our flexibility to meet ongoing working capital 
requirements, securing a new €50 million, three-year unsecured 
revolving credit facility, with the option to increase this to €150 
million subject to the banks’ consent. 

Whilst we have made significant improvements in our balance 
sheet over the course of the last two years, we remain one-notch 
below investment grade. We did secure an improved credit 
outlook from Moody’s Investor Services during the year and are 
confident that, in due course, our focus on deleveraging and 

Following our successful efforts in 
2009 to address our impending debt 
maturities and deleverage the balance 
sheet, it was good to get back to business 
as usual in 2010 and focus on the core 
strengths that drive value in our business: 
pro-active management of our assets, 
a strong customer focus and prudent 
management of our financial position. 

Joint executive statement
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In accordance with Article 3 (2) of the law of 11 January 2008 
on transparency requirements in relation to information about 
issuers whose securities are admitted to trading on a regulated 
market, ProLogis Management S.à r.l., the Management Company 
of ProLogis European Properties (PEPR), hereby confirms that 
to the best of its knowledge the annual report for the year ended 
31 December 2010 has been prepared in accordance with the 
applicable set of accounting standards and gives a true and 
fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and revenue 
and expenses of PEPR and the undertakings included in the 
consolidated results taken as a whole.

Statements by the responsible persons

further retention of earnings will secure a return to an investment 
grade credit rating.

Looking forward
Overall, we feel confident that the sustained high level of leasing 
activity is a clear indicator that our assets are well located 
and attractive to companies who continue to modernise and 
rationalise their supply chains. 

Although we do not envisage a dramatic rebound in the logistics 
warehouse market, we have seen a pick-up in both trade and 
shipping volumes as businesses rebuild their inventories and 
believe this will in turn lead to increased demand for modern 
warehouse space in dedicated, out of town, logistics centres. 
During 2011, we will ensure that we remain well placed to 
capture the improvements in occupier demand in order to 
maintain high portfolio occupancy.

It is clear that market fundamentals are now recovering, with 
confidence returning to the third party logistics segment in 
particular. With market rents remaining stable and lease 
incentives reducing, we are now reaching a point of equilibrium 
between landlord and occupier. Nevertheless, there is likely to 
be a time lag before we see a positive impact on rental values, 
especially in secondary or oversupplied markets.

For the time being, we expect our occupancy to fluctuate with 
average occupancy for 2011 in the 93% to 94% range, similar 
to 2010 levels. We have seen valuations stabilise and the rise 
in transaction volumes compared to 2009 is reassuring, giving 
us confidence that the quality of our assets will enable us to 
outperform the leasing market and generate increased cash flow 
as the markets continue to recover. 

Moreover, the undersigned declares that the Annual 
Report 2010 includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and position of PEPR and 
the subsidiaries included in the consolidation taken as a 
whole, together with a description of the principal risks and 
uncertainties that it faces.

ProLogis Management S.à r.l.
Peter Cassells  David Doyle
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer

Business strategy
Our investment objective is to continue to generate capital 
appreciation and a high level of current income for our 
unitholders through active management of our buildings.

We aim to structure our investments in a tax-efficient 
manner, whilst using efficient financing to optimise the 
net yield from our portfolio and to deliver stable returns 
to our unitholders. 

Financing strategy
Our financing structure utilises a mix of secured and 
unsecured debt sources with a spread of maturities. Our 
secured debt is secured against specific pools of assets, with 
no recourse to other debt instruments or assets elsewhere 
within the business.

We aim to continue to reduce leverage in the business and 
to actively manage our debt maturity profile. We will seek 
a return to an investment grade credit rating and position 
ourselves to return to paying ordinary dividends when prudent 
to do so.

Our strategy
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Business review

Following a record year of leasing 
activity, we ended 2010 with occupancy 
at 94.5% in our portfolio of 232 high 
quality distribution properties covering 
4.9 million square metres across 11 
European countries and a net market 
value of €2.8 billion.

A record year for leasing transactions
Our priority for 2010 was on maintaining occupancy and our 
tight focus on leasing proved highly successful. We signed 165 
leasing transactions during the year, totalling 1,560,400 square 
metres, some 60% ahead of 2009 and the highest level we have 
achieved in PEPR’s history. 

127 of these transactions were for renewals or extensions with 
our core customers. Our largest customer, CEVA Logistics, 
renewed three leases totalling 75,700 square metres; two in 
ProLogis Park Vatry near Paris in France and one in ProLogis 
Park Alcala, near Madrid in Spain. The leading supplier of 
domestic appliances in France, FagorBrandt signed two lease 
renewals totalling 103,600 square metres in ProLogis Parks in 
Orleans and Isle d’Abeau, both in France. One of our longest-
standing customers, Carrefour, signed a six-year lease renewal 
for 34,100 square metres in Bedzin, Poland.

Perhaps more significantly, we signed 39 new leases for  
396,000 square metres, attracting some new blue chip 
organisations. This was particularly evident in a very strong  
fourth quarter when 22 new leasing transactions for 216,300 
square metres were signed including 45,500 square metres 
to Travis Perkins in the UK. The largest new deals were in 
The Netherlands, where we successfully leased over 59,000 
square metres to C. Steinweg Handelsveem (Steinweg) in 
Rotterdam, removing some of the oldest vacancies in our 
portfolio in the process. A further seven year lease, covering 
56,700 square metres, was signed with Samsung Electronics 
Europe at the ProLogis Park Tilburg, boosting our occupancy in 
The Netherlands from 84% to just under 96%.

Our ability to re-lease vacant properties, even in weaker markets, 
is a testament to the flexibility and quality of our portfolio. In 
addition to the major deals with Steinweg, we also re-leased a 
single occupancy 48,000 square metre building in Bologna, 
Italy in less than six months, to four separate customers with an 
option on the last remaining space.

We were very encouraged by this pick-up in volumes at the end 
of the year, which compares very favourably with the 15 new 
leases signed in the whole of last year. Interestingly, the high level 
of activity extended across multiple markets and to markets that 
previously had been relatively weak. Combined with other positive 
indicators such as a return to positive GDP growth and a recovery 

in global trade, we expect this improvement in market conditions 
to have a positive impact on occupancy and rental rates.

This high level of new leasing in the fourth quarter helped bring 
our occupancy levels to 94.5% at the end of the year, underpinned 
by strong levels of customer retention at 66%, slightly ahead of our 
historical average retention rates of 60–65%. 

The downward market pressures on rental rates still prevalent 
during the year resulted in a decline in weighted average rental 
rates of 9.2% for those lease transactions completed during 
the fourth quarter. On average, these leases have 4.2 years to 
lease break or 5.8 years to lease expiry. Looking at the weighted 
average time to next lease break of the entire portfolio, this 
has now increased to 3.4 years compared with 3.2 years at 
31 December 2009.

Although there were no customer defaults during 2010, two 
customers have defaulted on leases totalling 31,800 square 
metres since the year end, one in the UK and one in Italy. The 
largest of these had been included on PEPR’s customer watch 
list and un-collected rents on both leases have been provided 
for in 2010. The buildings are well located and there are 
encouraging signs of market improvements evidenced by new 
leasing elsewhere in our Italian portfolio.

We also agreed two early lease terminations in Germany for a 
total of 26,300 square metres, resulting in a significant one-off 
receipt of €7.4 million. A new tenant has already been found for 
half of the space available in the building in Frankfurt and we 
would reasonably expect to re-lease the second building near 
Hanover within the six years that was left on the lease.

A stable portfolio
Over the course of the year as a whole, the net market value of 
the portfolio decreased by 1.7%, excluding foreign exchange 
adjustments. However, the strengthening of Sterling and Swedish 
Krona exchange rates during the year reduced the overall net 
market value decline to 0.6%, ending the year at a value of 
€2,822 million, compared with €2,839 million at the end of 2009. 

Values continued to stabilise across our portfolio, with only one 
region – Northern Europe – moving by more than half a percent 
during the second half of the year. This movement was impacted 
by the increase in portfolio vacancy in Germany over the year 
rather than market weakness, and compares to the 4.5% fall 
suffered in the second half of 2009 and the 1.1% decline in the 
first half of 2010. Values are therefore now stabilising across all 
markets and we are likely to look back on the end of 2009 as the 
conclusion of the period of sustained decline in market values 
that started nearly three years ago.

Our markets
Our UK portfolio increased by 1.2% over the year on a currency 
neutral basis, ending the year at €523 million.

Market sentiment in the UK remains cautious, and this is unlikely 
to change until the impact of the government spending cuts is 
more apparent. In the meantime, activity remains at a relatively 

Operations
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low volume. However, with no new speculative space coming 
to the market, net absorption is positive. New demand still tends 
to be concentrated on larger projects, which is fuelling build-to-
suit activity.

The value of our portfolio in Northern Europe declined by 1.9% 
between June and December, and by 3.9% over the full year, to 
€578 million. The majority of the movement in the second half of 
the year was in Germany, which fell 3% due to slightly increased 
vacancy levels. 

Container volumes in Antwerp and Rotterdam are virtually back 
to pre-crisis levels, having recovered strongly in the second half 
of last year. Market rents have stabilised in core locations, though 
there are still pockets of vacancy in southern Netherlands. The 
relatively strong GDP growth in Germany and Sweden has driven 
trade volumes up through the ports and improved both consumer 
and customer sentiment. 

Our Southern European portfolio values declined by 1.7% to €1,296 
million compared to December 2009. The value of our Italian 
properties fell by 3.5% over the second half, largely due to the down 
time on the building in Bologna and the prudent assumption that 
the impending default in Romentino, near Milan, was imminent.

In France, a sustained level of activity has translated into positive 
rent indices for the last three quarters after a period of negative 
indexation. On the leasing front, renewals included a nine-
year lease with Depolabo Pharma Logistics, one of the largest 
providers of pharmaceutical pre-wholesale and contract logistics 
services in France for 20,600 square metres and Schneider 
Electric, a global specialist in energy management will remain 
in its current 10,400 square metres of space for the next six 
years. We expect the combined effect of shrinking inventories, 
increasing demand, and underlying inflation to start to push rents 
up going forward. Rent concessions have stabilised.

Whilst the Spanish market in general has remained depressed, 
with rents still in decline, we have had considerable success in 
maintaining occupancy. Values in Spain increased by 1.25% 
over the period, due to the re-leasing achieved in Madrid with 

When an existing client needed to surrender its 45,500 
square metre lease at Brackmills DC1 in Northampton UK, 
early involvement of the leasing management team led to 
an innovative solution that delivered a positive result for 
all parties.

Local market knowledge allowed a new client to be secured, 
releasing the existing occupier from its lease obligations and 
adding value to the portfolio in the process. Travis Perkins, 
a leading supplier to the UK’s building and construction 
industry, signed a 17 year lease for the entire building 
starting on 1 November 2010, creating significant value for 
PEPR and enabling Travis Perkins to source badly needed 
additional space fast. As part of a complete restructure of its 
procurement and logistics strategy, this helped Travis Perkins 
consolidate its position in Northampton where it has added 
92,000 square metres of new warehousing space in the last 
two years.

The ability to surrender the lease with the previous occupier 
and structure the new agreement with Travis Perkins is 
testament to the quality of PEPR’s assets and the strength 
of the ProLogis management team. Close relationships with 
its strong customer base gave PEPR the flexibility to turn a 
potential issue into an opportunity to retain its market-leading 
levels of occupancy and generate robust cash flow from 
its portfolio.

A flexible solution

Leasing transactions (in 000m2)
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1,560.4

947.3

601.7
506.8

289.0

1,560.4

Brackmills DC1 in Northampton UK
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CEVA Logistics signing a five-year lease for 12,900 square metres of 
distribution space at ProLogis Park Alcala near Madrid and the signing 
of a new five-year lease with Spanish logistics company, Grupo Carrera 
for 48,400 square metres at ProLogis Park Penedes in Catalonia. As 
part of our sustainability initiatives, solar panels have been installed on 
the extensive roof space in our two Spanish parks and the new roof 
leases for these became effective during the last quarter. 

Finally, the Central European portfolio ended the year 2.3% lower 
than at the end of December 2009 at €425 million. Poland was 
slightly up with three new lease agreements secured and the Czech 
Republic was broadly flat with one new and one lease renewal 
signed. Hungary, however, dropped by nearly 3% over the period due 
to reduced occupancy and although this fell to 84.3%, it remained 
above general market occupancy levels of 81%.

Poland still remains the best performing economy of the Central and 
Eastern European countries with the above average GDP growth 
of 3.5% year on year forecast to continue. Market rents in Central 
Europe appear to have stabilised, although Hungary still suffers from 
weak demand. Rent incentives for stronger locations around southern 
Poland and Prague, for example, are also beginning to decrease.

Market overview
Following a two-year period when there has been no speculative 
development, land transactions have started to take place, leading 
to developers drawing up plans for a limited number of speculative 
projects in France, Germany and Poland. Whilst there has been some 
new supply, this is primarily linked to build-to-suit projects.

Market occupancy rates across Europe has remained relatively 
steady throughout the year, ranging from 90% or more in Northern 
and Southern Europe to 81 to 88% in Central Europe and the 
UK. Rental rates are now stable in most markets, with one or two 
exceptions where there is still oversupply, such as around Warsaw in 
Poland. With trade and shipping volumes rising again, we expect this 
to filter through in demand for new space over the coming year. Third 
party logistics companies are being to talk about growth again and 
we have seen the first signs of this in 2010 with new contracts signed 
with ND Logistics, NYK Logistics, Syncreon and DHL.

Investment flows into Europe’s core logistics property markets 
increased by 21% to approximately €8 billion compared to 2009, 
although this is still around half of that experienced at the peak of the 
market. Investor appetite for risk remains low, leading to a continued 
focus on prime covenant quality, long-lease length product in core 
locations. As a result, capital values have stabilised with no significant 
change anticipated in 2011 as any further yield compression is likely 
to be offset by lower market rents in the near-term.

Looking forward
With the strong level of leasing activity continuing into 2011, our 
attention is now focused on leasing decisions which look at longer-term 
considerations rather than just short-term market occupancy. With a 
well-diversified, young portfolio – at approximately nine years old on 
average – in the right locations that comprise the best core logistics 
markets, we are in a great position to benefit from the return to growth.

UK 39 buildings

0.7 million m2

18% of portfolio by value

94.1% occupancy

8.0% net initial yield

Belgium 5 buildings

Germany  20 buildings

Netherlands  20 buildings

Sweden  4 buildings

0.9 million m2

21% of portfolio by value

96.3% occupancy

7.3% net initial yield

Northern Europe

UK

Operations 
continued
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Bologna re-leased in record time

When a significant customer moved out of the ProLogis 
Park Bologna, Italy, in July 2010, 48,000 square metres 
became vacant. However, within four months, four new 
lease agreements had been signed, with an option on the 
remaining space, demonstrating an impressive performance 
by the local leasing teams, particularly against the backdrop 
of a subdued Italian market in general.

The four new lease agreements include three customers 
working with PEPR for the first time. Polyedra, part of the 
Paperlinx group and one of Italy’s foremost manufacturers 
and distributors of paper products, will occupy 16,900 square 
metres; Assa Abloy, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Assa Abloy 
AB, the global leader in door opening and access control 
solutions, will occupy 8,200 square metres as it consolidates 
operations from two locations in Rome and Bologna to this 
single site and Fintyre, a leading Italian tyre distribution 
company, has signed for 7,900 square metres. 

Long-standing customer, ND Logistics will conduct the 
logistics activities for Limoni, an important manufacturer of 
cosmetics and perfumes, from 8,200 square metres and the 
final 8,000 square metres is already under option. 

With the new leases running for just over six years, all 
at market rents, this strong performance demonstrates 
the quality and flexibility of our properties and is an 
encouraging sign of the beginnings of a recovery in the Italian 
property market.

ProLogis Park Bologna, Italy

France 61 buildings

Italy  18 buildings

Spain  13 buildings

2.4 million m2

46% of portfolio by value

95.5% occupancy

7.7% net initial yield

Czech Republic 12 buildings

Hungary  14 buildings

Poland  26 buildings

0.9 million m2

15% of portfolio by value

90.0% occupancy

7.8% net initial yield

Central Europe

Southern Europe
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Financial performance
Our EPRA NAV increased 2.8% to €6.32 per ordinary unit, 
reflecting stable portfolio valuations and the impact of retaining 
earnings. Adjusted EPRA earnings of €0.45 per ordinary unit, 
including €0.04 in lease termination fee income, exceeded our 
revised guidance of €0.40 to €0.44 per unit. Although early 
termination fee income is part of the normal course of business, 
the level received in the final quarter of 2010 was significantly 
higher than average. Excluding this fee income, underlying EPRA 
earnings were €0.41 per ordinary unit, down from €0.54 in 2009 
given higher finance costs, preferred dividend payments and 
lower rental income associated with lower occupancy levels  
and lower rental rates. We generated distributable cash flow 
of €86.1 million or €0.45 per ordinary unit in 2010 which was 
retained in the business to further strengthen our balance sheet.

As at 31 December 2010 we had €1.6 billion of outstanding 
debt and had further reduced our loan-to-value ratio to 53.0% 
compared to 55% at the end of 2009, with interest cover of 2.3 
times compared to 2.4 times. Since year end we have repaid 
the €10 million drawn under our revolving credit facility and 
subsequently reduced our loan-to-value to 52.6%. We now have 
no debt maturities until December 2012 and intend to continue 
to retain earnings to further reduce our leverage to below 50% as 
we steer the business to a return to an investment grade rating.

Earnings
Our IFRS earnings increased substantially to €20.5 million 
(2009: €314.5 million loss), reflecting the significant unrealised 
portfolio devaluation and the €42.7 million loss on disposal and 
associated tax impacts recorded in 2009. IFRS earnings for 2010 
were negatively impacted by an €11.2 million reduction in total 
revenue and a €2.8 million increase in operating costs, although 
these factors were offset by a €17.7 million lower current income 
tax charge and a €4.1 million reduction in net finance costs.

Adjusted EPRA earnings for ordinary unitholders for the year fell 
to €85.9 million or €0.45 per unit (2009: €103.5 million or €0.54 
per unit), primarily due to reduced rental income, down by €13.7 
million, €6.5 million of preferred dividend payments and €5.5 
million higher operating costs, partially offset by €10.7 million 
lower finance and tax expenses. 

We have delivered a strong set of 
financial results, with EPRA earnings 
and distributable cash flow ahead of 
our guidance. We also increased our net 
asset value (NAV) and used retained cash 
flow to reduce our outstanding debt and 
further strengthen our balance sheet.

Financial review



ProLogis European PropertiesAnnual Report 2010 19

Total revenue
Total revenue, which includes rental and other property income 
movements fell by 4% to €254.6 million (2009: €265.8 million), 
mainly due to the loss of €9.1 million of rental income from last 
year’s portfolio sales together with a €15.9 million impact resulting 
from slightly lower average occupancy and lower rental levels 
on lease agreements that have reverted to market rents during 
2009 and 2010. This was partially mitigated by a €3.2 million 
improvement in income when our UK and Swedish sourced 
rents are measured in euro, the €8.2 million early termination 
fee income and the €2.6 million one-off receipt relating to the 
finalisation of insurance and legal claims. The income related to 
the insurance and legal claim resolution has been excluded from 
our adjusted EPRA earnings as this was a one-off receipt that 
does not occur in the ordinary course of our business.

Total revenue (€ million)

06 07 08 09 10

254.6
265.8

293.3
308.9

291.4

Operating expenses
Our operating expenses comprise the cost of operating the 
portfolio and managing PEPR as a listed real estate fund. The 
cost of rental activities includes ground rents paid, property 
management fees, provisions for bad debts and other non-
recoverable property related expenses. Fund expenses comprise 
the non-property related costs associated within our business, 
including fund management, custodian and professional fees. 

For 2010, our total property related expenses increased by some 
€4.4 million to €30.8 million (2009: €26.4 million) primarily 
due to a €1.8 million non-recurring charge resulting from a 
reassessment of our ability to recover service charges dating 
back over a number of years, an increase of €1.4 million of non-
recoverable property costs related to the higher levels of portfolio 
vacancy and the unusually high level of recovery of rental 
expenses in 2009. In addition, we recorded some €1.8 million 
additional insurance and maintenance costs partially resulting 
from adverse weather conditions encountered during the latter 
part of the year. 

This was partially mitigated by a decrease in property 
management fees of €1.3 million as a result of the reduction in 
portfolio values and asset sales since 2009.

Fund expenses fell by €1.7 million to €12.4 million (2009: 
€14.1 million), primarily due to the write-off of €3.3 million 
of legal entity conversion fees in 2009. This was offset by the 
€0.5 million write-off of costs associated with potential second 
preferred equity raise in the first quarter, €0.8 million higher 
professional fees related to the tax planning and compliance 
initiatives we implemented this year and a €0.7 million increase 
in other expenses mainly due to higher fees payable to ProLogis 
for legal and tax advice, tax compliance fees and an increase in 
non-recoverable VAT. Where additional services are provided by 
ProLogis, such as legal and compliance services, appropriate fee 
rates are agreed on an annual basis by the independent directors 
on the PEPR Board. These one-off fee increases were more than 
offset by the significant decrease in our income tax charge. 

Underlying fund management fees declined slightly to 
€4.5 million (2009: €4.9 million), in line with the reduction  
in portfolio valuation.

Property fair value movements
Our portfolio is independently valued twice a year and showed a 
substantial reduction in net valuation losses compared with last 
year. The property fair value movement for 2010 was a net loss 
of €69.8 million (2009: €445.8 million), reflecting the relatively 
stable values experienced during the year, in contrast to the 13% 
decline in portfolio value recorded in 2009.

Portfolio value (€ million)
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2,822.02,839.2

3,441.7

4,143.14,242.4

Financing
Finance income for 2010 decreased to €0.3 million 
(2009: €2.4 million), primarily related to a €1.3 million dividend 
received from ProLogis European Properties Fund II in the first 
quarter of 2009 and lower levels of cash on deposit.

Our finance expenses cover interest expense, amortisation of 
initial borrowing costs and foreign exchange gains/losses.
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Finance expense
Year ended 31 December

2010  
€000

2009  
€000

Interest expense 89,787 96,173
Amortisation of initial borrowing costs 11,431 10,524
Net foreign currency (gains)/losses 370 1,092

Finance expense 101,588 107,789

In total, our finance expenses fell by €6.2 million over the year 
to €101.6 million (2009: €107.8 million). The largest element is 
our interest expense which decreased by 6.6% to €89.8 million, 
primarily due to €10 million of costs associated with the early 
repayment of CMBS debt in 2009 and €15.1 million due to the 
reduction in outstanding debt during the year.

These reductions were partially offset by €19.1 million higher 
interest costs due to an increase in our weighted average cost of 
debt from 4.6% to 5.6%. 

Amortisation of initial borrowing costs rose to €11.4 million 
(2009: €10.5 million) due to the accelerated amortisation 
charges related to the reduction in size and early repayment 
of the revolving portion of our unsecured credit facility and the 
regular amortisation of costs associated with all our refinancing 
over the past two years.

Debt structure
Our debt structure includes a mix of secured and unsecured 
debt sources. At the end of 2010, 51.7% of our outstanding debt 
was secured against specific pools of assets with no recourse 
to the security of other debt or assets elsewhere within the 
business. 

As at 31 December 2010, we had reduced our outstanding debt 
by €68.3 million, or 4.2%, to €1,570.6 million (31 December 
2009: €1,638.9 million), primarily by retaining €86.1 million of 
distributable cash flow for the year.

During 2010, we repaid €373.0 million of debt, due 2010, and 
€20.0 million, due 2012, under the senior unsecured credit 
facility. In addition, we repaid €90.6 million of CMBS debt,  
due May 2010, received €392.6 million of new secured financing 
and finalised a new three-year €50 million unsecured revolving 
credit facility. As a result, we have no debt maturities until 
December 2012.

The weighted average interest rate for 2010 increased to 5.6% 
(2009: 4.6%), reflecting the 175 basis point increase in the 
€500 million Eurobond coupon arising from the credit rating 
downgrade in June 2009 and the higher average fixed interest 
rates applicable on the new secured debt facilities compared to 
the CMBS and unsecured debt facilities that they replaced. At 31 
December 2010, 83.2% of debt was at fixed rates of interest with 
the remainder at floating rates, namely the outstanding balances 
on the €280 million unsecured credit facility and the €50 million 
revolving credit facility, currently at margins of 270 basis points 
and 240 basis points over Euribor or Libor respectively. 

We are subject to a number of financial debt covenants within 
our credit facilities. As at 31 December 2010, we were in 
compliance with all covenants.

Outstanding debt (€ million)
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1,570.6
1,638.9

2,094.1

1,927.81,984.8

Tax
Our overall tax charge for 2010 was €19.8 million (2009: €54.1
million benefit), with the majority of the movement between the 
two years driven by a significant deferred income tax benefit 
recorded in 2009 related to declining portfolio values. 

The charge for current income tax has decreased by €17.7 
million to €13.8 million (2009: €31.5 million) for the year given 
lower taxable profits and the implementation of tax strategies and 
initiatives undertaken during 2010. In addition, 2009 included 
€5.7 million of capital gains tax related to portfolio sales. Our 
effective tax rate, using EPRA earnings as a proxy for taxable 
income, has fallen to 12.8% from 19.9% for the comparable 
period after adjusting for the capital gains tax associated with the 
prior year disposals.

The deferred tax expense for 2010 was €6.0 million (2009: €84.9 
million benefit), influenced by the changes in the tax base of the 
properties, changes in the property valuations and the utilisation 
of losses carried forward. The significant benefit recorded in 
2009 was predominantly caused by the unrealised portfolio 
valuation losses recorded in that year.
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Distributable cash flow and distribution
We suspended dividend payments at the end of 2008, as part of 
our strategy to improve liquidity and to comply with the conditions 
for our unsecured credit facility. In October 2010, we negotiated 
the partial removal of the restrictions on dividend payments with 
the bank syndicate providing the unsecured credit facility. Whilst 
we intend to revert to paying ordinary dividends as soon as it is 
prudent to do so, we plan to continue retaining distributable cash 
flow throughout 2011 to further deleverage the balance sheet 
and to ensure a return to an investment grade credit rating.

Distributable cash flow for ordinary unitholders for the year to 
31 December 2010 of €86.1 million or €0.45 per unit, has been 
retained in the business.

We have paid quarterly preferred dividend distributions to holders 
of our Class A (1) convertible preferred units totalling €6.5 million 
or €0.63 per preferred unit for 2010. 

Net asset value
The continued retention of earnings, partially offset by €6.5 
million of preferred dividend distributions, resulted in IFRS 
NAV per ordinary unit increasing to €5.62 at the end of 2010 
(31 December 2009: €5.55). 

EPRA NAV per ordinary unit, which adjusts IFRS NAV for 
fair value adjustments of hedging instruments and deferred 
tax liabilities, increased to €6.32 at 31 December 2010 (31 
December 2009: €6.15), again largely due to the retention of 
earnings.

Correction of IFRS deferred tax liability
As a result of a correction in the accounting treatment of our 
IFRS deferred tax liability at the end of 2010, we have recorded 
an additional €81.3 million IFRS deferred tax liability at 31 
December 2009 and a €3.9 million increased charge to IFRS 
earnings for 2009. Overall, this correction has no impact on 
EPRA NAV, EPRA earnings, revenues, distributable cash flow, 
cash position, ratings metrics, debt covenants, earnings guidance 
or operational performance. However, we have restated our 
audited consolidated income statement for the year ended 2009 
and our audited consolidated statement of financial position as at 
31 December 2008 and 2009 as part of this Annual Report. 
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Corporate governance and 
social responsibility 
Our mission: 
 
To be the leading provider of sustainable 
distribution facilities to Europe’s largest 
users of distribution space and to 
maximise shareholder value through 
customer service, organisational 
excellence and our commitment to 
corporate responsibility.

Corporate governance
We remain committed to maintaining high standards of 
corporate governance and risk management in decision 
making in our business.

External management
PEPR is managed by ProLogis Management S.à r.l. (the 
Management Company), a wholly owned subsidiary of ProLogis, 
in accordance with PEPR’s Management Regulations. These 
Management Regulations set out the matters over which the 
Management Company has authority and the limits beyond 
which Board approval must be sought. 

ProLogis is a leading provider of distribution facilities and 
distribution services in North America, Europe and Asia, with 
strengths in property and asset management, investment 
discipline, global customer relationships, property development 
and technical and structural innovation. The Management 
Company, through ProLogis, uses this expertise, resources and 
local knowledge on behalf of PEPR to seek the best lease terms 
available in particular markets and manage costs effectively.

The Management Regulations, dated 20 May 2010,  
are set out in full on the PEPR website, at  
www.prologis-ep.com/pepr/corporate/regulations.

The Board
The Board has ultimate responsibility for overall strategy, 
acquisition and divestment policy, proposal of amendments to 
the Management Regulations, investment in any new ProLogis 
private equity funds and/or joint ventures, the raising of finance 
and corporate governance. In all other respects, the Management 
Company manages the activities of PEPR in the interest of 
all unitholders.

The Board consists of four independent members, elected by 
unitholders, and two members appointed by ProLogis. The Board 
meets at least quarterly to review PEPR’s strategy, performance, 
plans, and projections.

Biographies of the Board members who served during 2010 
are shown on page 27.

The Board considers that it is of appropriate size for the 
discharge of its duties and that the balance of skills and 
experience are suitable for the proper stewardship of 
the business.
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Board meetings
All Board members are expected to attend in person to each 
Board meeting and any meeting of Board Committees of which 
they are a member. On the limited occasions a Board Member is 
unable to attend in person, they will be provided with the papers 
and given the opportunity to join the meeting by conference 
call or to discuss their comments with the Chairman prior to 
the meeting.

Board meetings are held at least once a quarter, with additional 
meetings arranged as necessary. Board papers are generally 
circulated at least one week in advance of Board meetings. 
During 2010, the Board met seven times, with PEPR’s 
management team present, to discuss:

business strategy and risk management•	
the impact of the credit crisis•	
credit rating•	
dividend policy•	
acquisition and divestment strategy•	
financing structure•	
the 2011 Budget and earnings guidance•	
portfolio leasing and occupancy•	
financial results and related press releases•	
internal audit services•	
investor feedback•	
a second convertible preferred equity raise•	
conversion of legal structure to a SICAF•	
corporate governance structure, including proposed •	
improvements of the Management Regulations
approval of independent appraisers, external auditors and •	
ancillary management fees
approval of legal fees and tax compliance fees payable •	
to ProLogis
approval of other fees, such as leasing commissions, which •	
may be paid to ProLogis over and above the management fee

Changes to the Board 
There were no changes to the composition of the Board in 2010.

Re-election of the Board 
In accordance with the Management Regulations, at least one 
Independent Board Member is subject to re-election at each 
AGM. The re-election roster for the current Board members is 
as follows:

Mr Geoffrey Bell, 2011 •	
Ms Sylvia Tóth, 2011•	
Mr Didier Cherpitel, 2012•	
Mr Pierre Rodocanachi, 2013 •	

Subcommittees of the Board
Audit Committee
The audit committee, chaired by Mr Geoffrey Bell, meets 
quarterly and operates within clearly defined terms of reference 
and comprises the four independent Board members. All 
members must satisfy the independence requirements of PEPR’s 
Management Regulations. At least one member must have recent 
and relevant financial experience, as confirmed by the Board 
and as specified by the requirements of the Financial Reporting 
Council Combined Code on Corporate Governance of 2006. No 
member of the committee may serve on the audit committee of 
more than three public companies, including PEPR, unless the 
Board determines such simultaneous service will not impair the 
ability of such member to serve effectively on the committee.
The purpose of the committee is to be an informed, vigilant 
and effective overseer of the financial accounting and reporting 
processes of PEPR. The committee reviews PEPR’s external audit 
arrangements, including monitoring:

the independence and objectivity of the auditors •	
the level of non-audit services •	
the integrity of the financial statements •	
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements •	
internal audit services provided by ProLogis•	

Nomination Committee
The nomination committee exists to nominate successor 
independent Board Members and comprises two independent 
Board Members and one ProLogis Board Member. The 
independent Board Members of the nomination committee are 
appointed by the affirmative vote of at least three independent 
Board Members. The ProLogis Board Member of the nomination 
committee is selected by unanimous consent of the ProLogis 
Board Members. Members of the nomination committee are 
appointed on an annual basis for a term expiring on the day of 
the AGM.
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During 2010, the nomination committee convened once 
and consisted of Mr. Geoffrey Bell, Mr. Didier Cherpitel, both 
independent Board members and Mr. Gary Anderson, a ProLogis 
Board Member. 

At that meeting, it was unanimously agreed that Mr. Pierre 
Rodocanachi be proposed for re-election as independent Board 
Member at the 2010 AGM.

Board remuneration
Independent Board members
Each independent member is entitled to receive a one-time fee of 
€75,000 upon their appointment in the form of PEPR units and 
a pro-rata annual allocation of €25,000 of PEPR units. All units 
allocated to independent Board members have a two year vesting 
period, at which point they vest in full. In addition, independent 
Board members receive compensation based on their meeting 
attendance each year. 

ProLogis Board members 
No compensation is paid to ProLogis or to ProLogis-appointed 
Board members in connection with their PEPR Board activities.

Further information regarding Board remuneration is included in 
the Notes to the consolidated financial statements.

PEPR as an investment
PEPR is listed on both the Bourse de Luxembourg (Luxembourg 
Stock Exchange) and Euronext Amsterdam (The Netherlands 
Stock Exchange). We are included in the EPRA/NAREIT Europe 
Index, which forms part of the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global 
Real Estate Index, and we are also part of the GPR 250 Index, 
which consists of the 250 most liquid listed property securities 
in the world. These indices serve as benchmarking tools for 
international investors.

During 2010, our share price improved by 11.6%, in line with the 
EPRA/NAREIT Europe Index. Our equity market capitalisation at 
the end of 2010 was €916.4 million, compared to €821.1 million 
at year-end 2009.

Harnessing solar energy to add value

Focused initially on our Spanish assets, an extensive 
programme is under way to harness solar energy across our 
portfolio. The roofing on eight of PEPR’s buildings has been 
replaced with solar membranes to generate power to be 
channelled into the national electricity grid. These buildings, 
in addition to the existing solar facility in Penedes, provide 
PEPR with over 200,000 square metres of leased assets  
in Spain equipped to generate solar power. Properties in  
France, Germany and the Czech Republic are currently  
being assessed for suitability to retro fit the new panels.

The current project in Spain is a 4.8 megawatt (MW) solar 
installation located in ProLogis Park Sant Boi, Barcelona and 
ProLogis Park Alcalà, Madrid. This follows the successful 
installation of solar panels on ProLogis European Properties 
Fund II owned buildings in France. 

PEPR’s properties make ideal locations for large-scale 
solar projects. Rooftops provide large, flat, unobstructed 
surfaces which are less costly than land acquisition. There 
are no planning permission issues and sites are available 
for long-term use. Long-term rental agreements have been 
put in place for use of our roof space to host the equipment, 
generating additional income for PEPR. In addition, the 

membrane technology effectively provides a new  
guarantee to the roof, prolonging its useful life and  
reducing future expenditure.

Other initiatives include installing energy-saving lighting  
systems – the biggest source of energy consumption in 
warehouses – and testing buildings to assess heat loss.  
These initiatives are part of the ProLogis “Green Buildings” 
agenda which includes PEPR’s assets. This adds value  
to PEPR’s portfolio and is attractive to customers looking to 
reduce their carbon footprint. 
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Corporate responsibility 
Our approach to corporate responsibility reflects that of ProLogis, 
our external manager. This approach encompasses a triple 
bottom line framework by measuring and managing our impacts 
in environmental stewardship, social responsibility, and ethics 
and governance. 

Environmental stewardship
As an industry leader in environmental stewardship, we see it 
as our duty to address two major global challenges confronting 
humankind – climate change and overburdened ecosystems. 

Objectives:
Minimise carbon emissions for our customers by providing •	
energy-efficient buildings and a geographically diverse 
platform that minimises fuel consumption. 
Minimise the ecological impact of our developments •	
by meeting or exceeding local or regional sustainable 
development standards. 
Minimise the impact of our own operations by engaging •	
associates in every office to reduce our environmental 
footprint in areas such as energy, waste, procurement 
and water.

Social responsibility
We believe social responsibility means setting expectations of 
excellence in how we interact with associates, suppliers and local 
communities. 

Objectives:
Engage with our associates to provide a challenging, dynamic •	
and diverse work environment that supports their professional 
development. 
Engage with our suppliers to discuss and address relevant •	
social issues pertaining to the health, safety and welfare of 
those working in our supply chain. 
Engage with our communities to support initiatives that •	
improve education and human welfare where there is need.

Ethics and governance
For us, ethics and governance means working with integrity and 
ensuring effective oversight and accountability – two factors that 
are critical to our long-term success as a company. 

Objectives:
Maintain high corporate governance practices through •	
exemplary board stewardship, management accountability 
and proactive risk management. 
Maintain world-class ethical standards through a strong ethics •	
policy, ongoing ethics training for all associates and executive 
leadership that promotes a culture of integrity. 
Maintain strong stakeholder relationships through open •	
communications and by using stakeholder input to respond 
appropriately to our constituencies.
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PEPR Board and management
PEPR is externally managed by its
management company, ProLogis
Management S.à r.l, a wholly owned
subsidiary of ProLogis, a real estate
investment trust listed on the New York
Stock Exchange. The management 
team comprises three ProLogis officers. 

Management team 

Peter Cassells 
Chief Executive Officer
Mr Cassells became CEO of PEPR in February 2009, having 
been Chief Financial Officer from September 2006. Previously, 
Mr Cassells was First Vice President and Fund Manager of 
ProLogis in Europe with responsibility for managing fund investor 
relations, reporting, treasury and corporate secretarial functions. 
Prior to joining ProLogis in 2000, Mr Cassells worked with Elsag 
Bailey Process Automation NV, Price Waterhouse and Anglo-
American plc in a number of finance and treasury positions. 
Based: Luxembourg.

David Doyle 
Chief Financial Officer 
David Doyle is chief financial officer (CFO) of PEPR and ProLogis 
in Europe. Before joining ProLogis in July 2009, Mr Doyle was 
CFO at Colliers CRE, a leading UK property professional services 
firm, where he was responsible for all finance, risk management 
and legal affairs as well as partnering with the chief executive to 
develop and implement strategy. Prior to joining Colliers CRE in 
2006, Mr Doyle was CFO and executive director at Egg plc, the 
UK’s leading internet bank, with accountability for all finance, legal 
and company secretarial matters. From 1996 to 2003, Mr Doyle 
held various senior financial positions, including head of corporate 
finance, at Prudential plc. Based: The Netherlands.

Simon Nelson 
Head of Asset Management 
Mr Nelson became Head of Asset Management in July 2008. 
He joined ProLogis in January 2001 with initial responsibility 
for investment acquisitions in Southern Europe. Latterly he 
has been responsible for European acquisitions and disposals, 
together with overseeing the portfolio valuation exercise. Prior 
to joining ProLogis, he was a Partner and Investment Director 
at DTZ in France, covering all aspects of commercial real estate 
investment. Based: The Netherlands.
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Board members 

1. Geoffrey Bell – Mr Bell became Chairman of PEPR in 
December 2008 and has been a member of the PEPR Board since 
September 2006. Mr Bell is an economist, banker, and Executive 
Secretary and founder of the Washington based Group of 30, 
chaired by Paul Volcker. He is also President of Geoffrey Bell and 
Company, a consulting company which advises a wide range of 
central banks and governments on their international reserve asset 
and liability management programmes. Based: USA and UK. 

2. Didier Cherpitel – Formerly Chairman of the Supervisory Board 
of Atos Origin, an international IT company. Mr Cherpitel has also 
served as Chairman and director of the Red Cross Foundation; 
as Secretary General of the International Federation of Red Cross 
and Red Crescent National Societies in Geneva; and as Managing 
Director of Security Capital Group in London. The majority of 
Mr Cherpitel’s professional career has been with J.P. Morgan, 
a leading global financial bank, where he has been in different 
positions in the USA, UK, Singapore, Belgium and France, where 
he chaired the operations for nine years. Based: Switerland.

3. Pierre Rodocanachi – A retired Senior Vice President and 
Director of Booz Allen and Hamilton inc., one of the world’s 
largest management consulting firms and currently the Chairman 
of its advisory board in Paris. Mr Rodocanachi is the Managing 
Partner of Management Patrimonial Conseil which advises 
entrepreneurs and large company owners on their asset allocation 
and investment strategies. A former President of the American 
Chamber of Commerce in France and Director of Carrefour, the 
world number two distribution chain, he is currently a member of 
Vivendi supervisory board. Based: France. 

4. Sylvia Tóth – President of Tóco USA and Tóco d’Azur and 
was previously chairwoman of Content Beheer and a supervisory 
director at Aegon N.V., Endemol Entertainment, Creyf’s and 
Vendex KBB N.V. Based: The Netherlands. 

5. Ted R. Antenucci – Mr Antenucci serves in a transitional 
dual role as President and CEO of Catellus Development 
Corporation and as ProLogis’ President and Chief Investment 
Officer. He intends to resign from his ProLogis role in June 2011. 
Mr Antenucci is also a member of ProLogis’ Executive Committee. 
Before joining ProLogis in September 2005, Mr Antenucci served 
as President of Catellus Commercial Development Corporation. 
Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President of Catellus 
Commercial Development Corporation. Mr. Antenucci has served 
on the Board of Directors of Hudson Pacific Properties and on 
Hudson’s audit committee and also is on the Board of Trustees of 
the Children’s Hospital Foundation. Based: USA. 

6. Gary E. Anderson – Mr Anderson is ProLogis’ head of global 
operations and investment management and is also a member of 
ProLogis’ Executive Committee. From 2006 to 2009, Mr Anderson 
was President of Europe and the Middle East, as well as Chairman 
of ProLogis’ European Operating Committee. From 2003, 
Mr Anderson was the managing director responsible for investments 
and development in ProLogis’ Southwest and Mexico regions. Prior 
to 2003, Mr Anderson was Market Officer for several US areas and 
Market Representative for two Mexican cities. Based: USA.

1.

2.

3.

4.

5.

6.
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            Average 
            number Average 
     % of Annualised    Average  of years number 
 Number Market % of total Leasable total rental  Net  age of  to next of years 
 of value(1) market area leasable income(2) ERV(3) initial Occupancy facilities Number lease to lease 
 facilities €million value 000m2 area €million €million yield(4) level years of leases break expiry

France  61 811.8 29% 1,590.5 32% 68.4 66.6 8.0% 96.2% 9.5 74 2.3 5.8
Italy 18 249.5 9% 523.1 11% 21.4 18.6 6.7% 94.5% 10.5 21 4.7 4.9
Spain 13 234.7 8% 309.5 6% 19.4 18.6 8.0% 93.6% 8.0 29 3.1 4.2

Southern 92 1,296.0 46% 2,423.1 49% 109.2 103.8 7.7% 95.5% 9.3 124 2.9 5.3
             
Belgium 5 50.1 2% 98.3 2% 4.4 4.1 8.0% 100.0% 6.5 5 2.0 7.8
Germany 20 213.7 8% 327.9 7% 18.7 17.0 7.7% 94.6% 6.5 36 2.2 2.4
Netherlands 20 217.8 8% 378.3 8% 18.6 18.5 6.6% 95.7% 10.5 32 2.3 3.8
Sweden 4 96.1 3% 130.4 2% 8.3 6.8 7.8% 100.0% 15.9 4 6.7 8.1

Northern 49 577.7 21% 934.9 19% 50.0 46.4 7.3% 96.3% 9.2 77 3.0 4.3
             
Czech  
Republic 12 99.8 4% 180.1 4% 7.3 8.9 7.2% 95.0% 7.8 38 2.3 2.4
Hungary 14 89.6 3% 182.1 4% 7.6 7.1 8.1% 84.3% 7.7 32 3.5 3.8
Poland 26 236.6 8% 494.9 10% 19.4 19.9 7.8% 90.4% 8.5 74 2.6 3.3

Central 52 425.0 15% 857.1 18% 34.3 35.9 7.8% 90.0% 7.7 144 2.8 3.2
             
UK 39 523.3 18% 706.9 14% 44.1 41.3 8.0% 94.1% 8.9 37 5.5 8.0

TOTAL 232 2,822.0 100% 4,922.0 100% 237.6 227.4 7.7% 94.5% 9.2 382 3.4 5.3

Vacant space (at ERV per m2)     10.1

ERV of entire portfolio, assuming 100% leased   237.5

(1) An independent revaluation of the portfolio is conducted every 30 June and 31 December. In accordance with IFRS fair value accounting, valuations are reported net i.e. 
after deduction of purchasers’ costs.

(2) Annualised rental income means the estimate of annual income based on the gross rental income for leases in place as at the latest valuation date based on rates effective 
at that date and on the assumption that rental income from such leases will continue to be received for the whole of the financial year. It does not take into account lease 
terminations, renewals, replacement of customers or other changes in rent levels in existing leases.

(3) ERV refers to the Estimated Rental Value calculated by the independent third-party appraisers as at the latest valuation date.
(4) Annualised rental income less non-recoverable property expenses, expressed as a percentage of gross market value i.e. before the deduction of notional purchasers’ costs.

Portfolio overview 
as at 31 December 2010
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Customer Name(7)

 
Industry Type

Share of annualised rental 
income Number of leases

1 Ceva 3PL 6.4% 15

2 Geodis 3PL 5.0% 13

3 Deutsche Post AG (DHL) 3PL 3.4% 15

4 Gefco (PSA Peugeot) 3PL 2.8% 8

5 ND Logistics 3PL 2.6% 7

6 NYK Holdings (Nippon Yusen Kaisha) 3PL 2.5% 7

7 FM Logistic 3PL 2.4% 3

8 GoodYear/Dunlop Automotive 2.0% 2

9 Fagor Electrodomesticos Industrial Durables 1.8% 4

10 Kuehne & Nagel 3PL 1.8% 4

11 Intermarche Retail 1.7% 3

12 Schneider Electrical/Mechanical 1.6% 4

13 Carrefour Retail 1.6% 2

14 ID Logistics Group 3PL 1.4% 4

15 Amazon.com Inc Retail 1.3% 1

16 DSV A/S 3PL 1.3% 3

17 DB Schenker 3PL 1.3% 5

18 Travis Perkins Building/Construction 1.3% 1

19 Wincanton Logistics 3PL 1.2% 7

20 J. Sainsbury Retail 1.2% 2

Subtotal of largest 20 customers 44.6% 110

Leases with 186 other customers 55.4% 272

Total 100.0% 382

(5) Leases at earlier of next break date or expiry day.
(6) Leases at expiry date regardless of upcoming lease breaks.
(7) Customers shown are either actual names on the lease or the name of the group.

Top 20 customers list 
as at 31 December 2010

 

Number of 
leases with 
next break 

option in year

Leased space 
subject to 

next break 
option(5) 
000m2

Annualised  
rental income  

of leases subject  
to first break option
(€ m)                     %

Number of 
leases with 
expiry date  

in year(6)

Leased space 
subject to 

lease expiry 
000m2

Annualised  
rental income of  
expiring leases

2010 19 115 6.4 2.7 19 115 6.4 2.7
2011 86 845 41.8 17.6 71 565 29.1 12.2
2012 88 1,020 52.0 21.9 59 467 25.0 10.5
2013 57 602 31.2 13.1 45 359 20.8 8.8
2014 45 638 33.3 14.0 36 512 27.0 11.4
2015 33 578 29.7 12.5 36 589 26.5 11.1
2016 15 274 14.5 6.1 20 441 21.4 9.0
2017 13 278 13.3 5.6 25 455 22.0 9.3
2018 3 57 1.8 0.8 12 222 10.9 4.6
2019 5 47 2.5 1.0 11 148 8.1 3.4
2020+ 18 198 11.1 4.7 48 779 40.4 17.0

Total 382 4,652 237.7 100.0 382 4,652 237.7 100.0

Lease break and maturity dates
as at 31 December 2010
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To the Unitholders of 
ProLogis European Properties, FCP
34–38, Avenue de la Liberté
L-1930 Luxembourg

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of ProLogis European Properties, a fonds commun de placement 
(PEPR), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2010, and the related consolidated income 
statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in the number of units issued, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of investment in properties and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

ProLogis Management S.à r.l.’s (the “Management Company”) responsibility for the consolidated financial statements
The Management Company is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and for such internal control as the 
Management Company determines is necessary to enable the preparation and presentation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Responsibility of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé”
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing as adopted for Luxembourg by the “Commission de Surveillance du Secteur 
Financier”. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the judgement of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé”, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the 
“réviseur d’entreprises agréé” considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Management Company, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of ProLogis European Properties, 
FCP as at 31 December 2010, and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union.

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw your attention to the fact that, as described in Note 2 - Restatement, the Management Company 
of PEPR determined that the deferred tax liability was understated in prior periods. As a result PEPR restated its comparitive figures for 
the prior periods presented in these consolidated financial statements.

Supplementary information, including the Statement of Performance Measures, has been reviewed in the context of our mandate but has 
not been subject to specific audit procedures carried out in accordance with the standards described above. Consequently, we express no 
opinion on such information. However we have no observation to make concerning such information in the context of the consolidated 
financial statements taken as a whole.

ERNST & YOUNG
Société Anonyme
Cabinet de révision agréé

Bruno DI BARTOLOMEO
Luxembourg, 23 March 2011

Independent auditor’s report
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 Notes

31 December  
2010  

 
€000

31 December 
2009 

Restated 
€000

31 December 
2008 

Restated 
€000

Assets  
Non-current assets  
Investment in property 2,821,961 2,839,247 3,441,722
Property under construction – 25 132
Hedging instruments 25 – – 90,259
Deferred tax asset 12 4,693 10,381 5,625

 2,826,654 2,849,653 3,537,738

Current assets
Accounts receivable, net 4 40,797 46,898 60,097
Investment in an associate – – 48,496
Due from related parties 16 1,963 – 6,168
Other current assets 5 18,549 21,692 30,841
Cash and cash equivalents 6 22,766 64,530 77,101

84,075 133,120 222,703

Total assets 2,910,729 2,982,773 3,760,441

Equity
Capital contributions 7 1,972,880 1,972,880 1,911,810
Costs of raising capital (44,705) (44,718) (37,721)

Net capital contributed 1,928,175 1,928,162 1,874,089
Net retained losses (660,030) (673,401) (359,989)
Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment (117,182) (131,535) (176,288)
Cash flow hedge valuation reserve 25 (19,643) (5,687) (9,959)

Equity attributable to unitholders 1,131,320 1,117,539 1,327,853
Non-controlling interest in subsidiaries 1,775 2,266 5,589

Total equity 1,133,095 1,119,805 1,333,442

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Interest bearing notes and bank loans, net of current portion 11 1,537,878 1,157,847 1,735,847
Hedging instruments 25 19,643 4,826 6,509
Deferred tax liability 12 111,078 109,663 189,824

 1,668,599 1,272,336 1,932,180

Current liabilities
Interest bearing notes and bank loans, current portion 11 4,585 460,853 335,288
Hedging instruments 25 – 1,487 –
Accounts payable 2,857 3,799 1,371
Due to related parties 16 – 6,095 40,387
Income and other taxes payable 12 11,528 22,845 16,449
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 13 47,646 49,862 53,998
Deferred income 42,419 45,691 47,326

 109,035 590,632 494,819

Total liabilities 1,777,634 1,862,968 2,426,999

Total equity and liabilities 2,910,729 2,982,773 3,760,441

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of financial position
As of 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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Notes

31 December 
2010  

 
€000

31 December 
2009 

Restated 
€000

Rental income 14 243,421  265,320
Other property income 11,211  462

Total revenue 254,632  265,782

Ground rents paid (2,210) (2,446)
Property management fees 16 (13,439) (14,746)
Other property rental expenses 15 (15,200) (9,236)

Cost of rental activities (30,849) (26,428)

Gross profit 223,783 239,354

Fund management fees 16 (4,473) (4,910)
Fund custodian fees (156) (102)
Other fund expenses 21 (7,785) (9,071)

Fund expenses (12,414) (14,083)

Investment property disposal proceeds 23 – 189,097
Carrying value of investment property and currency translation effect on disposal 23 – (231,751)

Loss on disposal of investment property – (42,654)

Gross valuation gains on property 37,804 6,949
Gross valuation losses on property (108,713) (476,344)
Purchasers costs 1,102 23,618

Property fair value movements (69,807) (445,777)

Earnings/(losses) before net financial cost and tax 141,562 (263,160)

Finance income 19 307 2,357
Finance expense 20 (101,588) (107,789)

Net profit/(loss) before tax 40,281 (368,592)

Benefit/(charge) for taxation 12 (19,778)  54,113

Net profit/(loss) for the year 20,503 (314,479)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to:
Unitholders 19,874 (313,253)
Non-controlling interest 629 (1,226)

Net profit/(loss) for the year 20,503 (314,479)

  
 Euro Euro

Earnings/(loss) per unit 8   
Basic €0.07 (1.65)
Diluted €0.10 (1.64)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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 Notes

 
31 December 

2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 

Restated 
€000

Net profit/(loss) for the year  20,503  (314,479)

Other comprehensive income/(loss)
Exchange difference on translating foreign operations  14,353 21,078
Transfer of cumulative exchange difference on disposal of foreign operations 23 – 23,675
Net gain/(loss) on cash flow hedges 25 (13,956) 4,272
Non-controlling interest on disposal of foreign operations  (1,120) (2,097)

Other comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax  (723) 46,928

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year, net of tax  19,780  (267,551)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Unitholders 20,271  (264,228) 
Non-controlling interest  (491) (3,323)

  19,780  (267,551)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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Capital 
contributions 

€000

Costs of raising 
capital 
€000

Net retained 
earnings/

(losses) 
€000

Cumulative 
foreign 

currency 
translation 

adjustment 
€000

Cash flow 
hedge 

valuation 
reserve 

€000

Total equity 
attributable to 

unitholders 
€000

Non-
controlling 
interest in 

subsidiaries 
€000

Total equity 
€000

Balance as at 31 December 2008 
(restated)  1,911,810  (37,721)  (359,989)  (176,288)  (9,959)  1,327,853  5,589  1,333,442 

Other comprehensive income – – –  44,753  4,272  49,025  (2,097)  46,928 
Loss for the year (restated) – –  (313,254) – –  (313,254)  (1,226)  (314,480)

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
(restated) – –  (313,254)  44,753  4,272  (264,229)  (3,323)  (267,552)

Issue of preferred units  61,070  (6,997) – – –  54,073 –  54,073 
Preferred distributions for the year – –  (158) – –  (158) –  (158)

Balance as at 31 December 2009 
(restated)  1,972,880  (44,718)  (673,401)  (131,535)  (5,687)  1,117,539  2,266  1,119,805 

Other comprehensive income/
(loss) – – –  14,353  (13,956)  397  (1,120)  (723)

Profit for the year – –  19,874 – –  19,874  629  20,503 

Total comprehensive income/
(loss) – –  19,874  14,353  (13,956)  20,271  (491)  19,780 

Issue of preferred units –  13 – – –  13 –  13 
Preferred distributions for the 

year – –  (6,503) – –  (6,503) –  (6,503)

Balance as at 31 December 2010 1,972,880  (44,705)  (660,030)  (117,182)  (19,643)  1,131,320  1,775  1,133,095 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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Issue price 

€
2010 
units

2009 
units

Number of units outstanding at the beginning of the year:  
Class A(1) convertible preferred units 5.93 10,298,510 –
Ordinary units 9.98-15.39 190,522,441 190,522,441 

Number of units issued during the year:
Class A(1) convertible preferred units 5.93 – 10,298,510
Ordinary units – – – 

Number of units outstanding at the end of the year:
Class A(1) convertible preferred units 5.93 10,298,510 10,298,510
Ordinary units 9.98-15.39 190,522,441 190,522,441 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Statement of changes in the number of units in issue 
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Historic cost  
Cost at the beginning of the year  3,058,985 3,244,724
Capital expenditure  11,926 2,951
Leasing commission  3,875 (160)
Rent levelling  3,918 (387)
Transfer of completed development from property under construction – 109
Disposals – (222,407)
Effect of unrealised currency movements  44,007 34,155

Cost at the end of the year  3,122,711 3,058,985

Net unrealised gains related to property
Net unrealised (losses)/gains at the beginning of the year  (219,738) 196,998
Gross valuation gains on investment in property during the year  37,804 6,949
Gross valuation losses on investment in property during the year  (108,713) (476,344)
Adjustment for purchasers costs  1,102 23,618
Reversal of accumulated revaluation loss and purchasers cost on disposal – 14,331
Effect of unrealised currency movements  (11,205) 14,710

Net unrealised losses at the end of the year  (300,750) (219,738)

Fair value at the end of the year  2,821,961 2,839,247

Fair value of investment property
Gross market value at the end of the year  2,963,841 2,980,594
Purchasers costs  (141,880) (141,347)

Fair value at the end of the year  2,821,961 2,839,247

Third party assessed fair value as a percentage of net assets 249% 254%

Fair value of investment property subject to security
Secured notes – 199,798
Secured bank loans  1,588,464 832,475

Fair value of investment property subject to security  1,588,464 1,032,273

Insured value  1,955,522  2,433,332 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of investment in properties 
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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Notes

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Net cash flow from operating activities 25  83,522 115,837

Cash flow from investing activities
Distribution from an associate – 6,168
Investment in other financial assets available for sale – (38,000)
Distribution from other financial assets available for sale – 1,270
Capital expenditure and other expenditure on investment property  (15,801) (2,951)
Property under construction – (2)
Payments from insurance company in regard of building losses net of rebuilding costs – 1,082
Proceeds from insurance claims  2,573 –
Proceeds from disposal of shares of an associate – 48,496
Proceeds from disposal of investment in property 23 – 189,097

Net cash (used in)/provided from investing activities  (13,228) 205,160

Cash flow from financing activities
Repayment of secured notes 11  (90,590) (793,545)
Proceeds from hedges related to secured notes 25 – 75,302
Repayment of unsecured notes 11  (2,000) (4,250)
Repayments of bank loans 11  (425,594) (25,059)
Proceeds from bank loans 11  410,704 353,796
Restricted proceeds from swap contracts 25 – 5,760
Net proceeds from preferred units issue – 54,073
Distributions to preferred unitholders  (5,025) –

Net cash used for financing activities  (112,505) (333,923)

Effects of exchange rate changes  447 355

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  (41,764) (12,571)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  64,530 77,101

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 6  22,766 64,530

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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EPRA earnings per unit Notes

31 December 
2010 

Unaudited 
€000

31 December 
2009 

Unaudited 
restated 

€000

Earnings/(losses) attributable to unitholders  19,874 (313,253)
Adjustments for:
Revaluation movements on investment properties and development properties  69,807 445,777
Loss on disposal of investment properties, net of tax 23 – 48,362
Deferred tax effects arising on revaluation of investment properties 12 5,244 (80,161)
Non-controlling interest in respect of the above (401) (351)

EPRA earnings 94,524 100,374
Preferred dividend (6,503) (158)

EPRA earnings attributable to ordinary unitholders  88,021 100,216
Weighted average number of ordinary units 190,522,441 190,522,441

EPRA earnings per ordinary unit €0.46 €0.53

PEPR specific adjustments
Income received not in the ordinary course of business  (2,573) –
Expenses incurred not in the ordinary course of business  500 3,275

PEPR specific adjusted earnings  85,948 103,491
Weighted average number of ordinary units 190,522,441 190,522,441

PEPR specific adjusted earnings per ordinary unit €0.45 €0.54

In 2010 income received not in the ordinary course of business represents a one-off receipt following the finalisation of insurance and 
legal claims related to properties in Hemel Hempstead, UK, that were damaged in the Buncefield oil terminal explosion at the end of 
2005. Expenses incurred not in the ordinary course of business represent the legal and advisory fees associated with a potential second 
preferred equity raise. In 2009 this caption related to the costs incurred for the cancelled conversion of PEPR’s structure in the third 
quarter of 2009.

EPRA net asset value Notes

31 December 
2010 

Unaudited 
€000

31 December 
2009 

Unaudited 
restated 

€000

Net asset value attributable to unitholders per IFRS consolidated financial statements  1,131,320 1,117,539
Adjustments for:
Fair value of financial instruments  19,643 5,687
Deferred tax 12  114,907 109,663

EPRA net asset value  1,265,870 1,232,889

Attributable to:
Ordinary unitholders  1,204,800 1,171,819
Preferred unitholders  61,070 61,070

EPRA net asset value  1,265,870 1,232,889

Number of ordinary units outstanding 190,522,441 190,522,441
Number of preferred units outstanding 10,298,510 10,298,510
EPRA net asset value per ordinary unit €6.32 €6.15

EPRA net asset value per preferred unit €5.93 €5.93

The performance measures above are prepared in accordance with the Best Practices Policy Recommendations issued by European 
Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) in October 2010.

This statement is supplemental to these consolidated financial statements.

Statement of performance measures
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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1 General information
ProLogis European Properties (PEPR) a fonds commun de placement (FCP), was established on 10 September 1999 under the laws of 
Luxembourg in the form of an unincorporated contractual co-ownership scheme and is now governed by the law on undertakings for 
collective investments of 20 December 2002 as revised 17 December 2010 and by its specific Management Regulations which originally 
appeared in Appendix E to the Private Placement Memorandum of 10 September 1999 (the “Management Regulations”), and have since 
been amended and restated on various occasions up to and including 20 May 2010. Full details of the Management Regulations are 
available on the PEPR website: www.prologis-ep.com.

PEPR is an externally managed real estate investment fund organised as a Luxembourg closed-ended FCP and regulated in Luxembourg 
by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (CSSF). PEPR owns a portfolio of high quality Distribution Facilities located in 
11 European countries. PEPR is managed by ProLogis Management S.à r.l. (the “Management Company”), a limited liability company 
organised under the laws of Luxembourg (registration number B 70 940) having its registered office at 34–38 Avenue de la Liberté, 
L-1930, Luxembourg.

The Management Company has the exclusive right to manage PEPR and is vested with broad powers to administer and manage PEPR in 
the name of and on behalf of the unitholders subject to the rules and regulations set out in the Management Regulations.

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies
Basis of preparation
Unless otherwise stated, the consolidated financial statements of PEPR are presented in thousands of euros. The consolidated financial 
statements are presented on an historical cost basis, except for the measurement of investment in properties and certain financial 
instruments relating to hedging which are stated at fair value.

Statement of compliance
The consolidated financial statements of PEPR and all its subsidiaries have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU (IFRS).

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the generally accepted accounting principles as described 
above requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the accounts and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the 
year. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

The consolidated financial statements of PEPR have been authorised for issuance on 23 March 2011 by the Management Company.

Restatement
PEPR determined that its deferred tax liability was understated as per 31 December 2009 as a result of errors in the historic calculation 
of deferred taxation on investment properties. The majority of the adjustment relates to the tax depreciation and the subsequent 
measurement of the deferred tax exemption on the initial recognition of investment properties. PEPR has assessed the impact of these 
items for each of the 2008 and 2009 annual periods and determined that the impact of such error is material to each of those periods. 
The adjustment necessary to correctly state the deferred tax liability is summarised below:

Effect on:

31 December 
2009 
€000

31 December 
2008 
€000

(Increase) in deferred tax liabilities (81,263) (77,403)

(Decrease) in total equity (81,263) (77,403)

Year 2009 
€000

(Decrease) in the benefit for taxation (3,860)

(Increase) of net loss for the year (3,860)

(Increase) of basic and diluted loss per ordinary unit (euro) (0.02)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
In these consolidated financial statements PEPR included the additional consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 
2008 and the comparative information in Note 12 “Current and deferred taxation”. PEPR has not added the comparative figures as of 
31 December 2008 to the notes which were not affected by the restatement.

Significant accounting principles
The significant accounting principles applied by PEPR are regularly re-evaluated by the Management Company to ensure their continued 
quality and reasonableness. They are as follows:

2.1 Principles of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include all activities of PEPR and its subsidiaries.

Subsidiary companies
Subsidiaries are defined as entities in which PEPR, directly or indirectly, has a controlling interest and are consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to PEPR and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of PEPR. The 
accounting principles of PEPR may differ from those applied in other countries. Where necessary, the accounts of the underlying entities 
have been adjusted or reclassified on consolidation in order that their results are consistent with the accounting principles of PEPR. 
Acquired companies have been included in the consolidated financial statements using the acquisition method of accounting when the 
transaction can be identified as a business combination. When determining whether an acquisition qualifies as a business combination, 
the Management Company considers if the transaction includes the acquisition of supporting infrastructure, employees, service provider 
agreements and major input and output processes, as well as active lease agreements. 

For business combinations, the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of cash flows include the results and cash 
flows of acquired companies for the period from its date of acquisition to the period end. The cost of acquisition is measured as the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred, measured at the acquisition date fair value and the amount of non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree. For each business combination, the acquiror measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed.

When the transaction has not been identified as being a business combination, the transaction has been accounted for as an acquisition 
of individual assets and liabilities where the initial purchase consideration is allocated to the separable assets and liabilities acquired 
based on their relative fair values.

The cost of investment in a subsidiary is eliminated against PEPR’s share in the net assets of that subsidiary at the date of acquisition or 
contribution. All intercompany receivables, payables, income and expenses are eliminated.

Where PEPR, either directly or indirectly, holds a controlling interest in a subsidiary but does not have complete control of that subsidiary, 
the value of the interest not held by PEPR is recorded as non-controlling interests in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Related parties
Related parties are defined as parties either directly or indirectly controlled, managed or owned by ProLogis, a Real Estate Investment 
Trust organised under the laws of Maryland, USA, which indirectly, through one or more wholly-owned subsidiaries, owns the Management 
Company and owns ordinary units (ProLogis).

2.2 Foreign currency translation
The presentation and functional currency of PEPR is the euro.

Each of PEPR’s subsidiaries determines its own functional currency and items in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency. This may be different to the local currency of the country of incorporation or the country where the 
subsidiary conducts its operations.

Subsidiaries with operations in all jurisdictions, except for the UK and five subsidiaries in Sweden, use the euro as their 
functional currency.

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of an entity are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in such currencies are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet date. All 
differences are recognised in the consolidated income statement under “Finance expense” (see Note 2.30).
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
The cumulative effect of exchange differences on cash transactions are classified as realised gains and losses in the consolidated income 
statement in the period in which they are settled. Exchange differences on transactions not yet settled in cash are classified as unrealised 
gains and losses under “Finance expenses” (see Note 2.30).

The assets and liabilities of subsidiaries are determined in accordance with the accounting principles of PEPR. Where the functional 
currency is different from the presentation currency of PEPR those assets and liabilities are translated at the rate of exchange ruling at 
the balance sheet date. The income statements of such subsidiaries are translated at the average exchange rate for the period. The 
exchange differences arising on the currency translation are recorded as a separate component of other comprehensive income under the 
heading of “Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment”. On the disposal of such a subsidiary, accumulated exchange differences 
are recognised in the consolidated income statement as a component of the gain or loss on disposal, including any tax effects. Exchange 
differences arising on monetary items, which in substance form part of PEPR’s net investment in a foreign entity, are recorded as a 
separate component of other comprehensive income under the heading of “Cumulative foreign currency translation”.

Fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the acquired company and are 
recorded at the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

2.3 Investment in property
Investment in property mainly comprises the investment in land and buildings in the form of distribution facilities which are not occupied 
substantially for use by, or in the operations of, PEPR, nor for sale in the ordinary course of business, but are held primarily to earn rental 
income and capital appreciation by leasing to third parties under long-term operating leases.

Investment in property is initially recorded at cost including acquisition costs such as transfer taxes, initial lease commissions and legal 
fees. Expenditure on renovation and development of investment properties is also initially capitalised at cost. After initial recognition, 
investment properties are measured at fair value as determined by third party independent valuers (the “Valuers”). Additionally, valuations 
are undertaken on acquisitions, contributions-in-kind and on disposals, in order to comply with the Management Regulations. The gain or 
loss arising from a change in the fair value of the investment property is included in the consolidated income statement in the period in 
which it arises. Jones Lang LaSalle (JLL), CB Richard Ellis (CBRE) and DTZ Zadelhoff (DTZ) have been appointed as the Valuers for 
PEPR. Depreciation is not provided on investment properties.

Realised gains and losses on the disposal of investment properties are determined as a difference between disposal proceeds and 
carrying value at the prior quarter end and are included in the consolidated income statement in the period in which they arise.

2.4 Leases
Assets held under finance leases are capitalised and depreciated over the shorter of the life of the lease and the life of the assets. The 
related liability is included in bank loans and the implied interest charge is allocated to the consolidated income statement over the lease 
term using the implicit interest rate method.

2.5 Leasing commissions
Initial leasing commissions are included in the cost of acquiring an investment property. Leasing commissions incurred, post the 
acquisition of a property, are recognised at cost in the carrying value of investment properties in the period in which they are incurred. 
Subsequently, the fair values of the underlying leases are considered in the overall determination of the fair value of the investment in 
property, with any movement being recorded in the consolidated income statement.

2.6 Investment in an associate
PEPR’s investment in its associate is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. An associate is an entity in which PEPR has 
significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor a joint venture. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the associate is carried in the balance sheet at cost adjusted for post acquisition changes in 
the PEPR’s share of the net assets of the associate. Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment and is not amortised. The consolidated income statement reflects the share of the results of operations of the associate. 
Where there has been a change recognised in other comprehensive income of the associate, PEPR recognises its share of any such 
changes in its other comprehensive income and discloses this, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income. Profits and losses resulting from transactions between PEPR and the associate are eliminated to the extent of the interest in 
the associate.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
The financial statements of the associate are prepared for the same reporting period as PEPR. Where necessary, adjustments are made to 
bring the accounting policies in line with those of PEPR.

Upon application of the equity method, PEPR determines whether it is necessary to recognise an impairment loss of PEPR’s investment 
in any associates. PEPR determines at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment in associate 
is impaired. If this is the case PEPR calculates the amount of impairment as being the difference between the fair value of the associate 
and the carrying value and recognises the amount in consolidated income statement.

2.7 Financial assets
Initial recognition
Financial assets within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments, available-for-sale financial assets, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective 
hedge, as appropriate. PEPR determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial assets are recognised initially at fair value. In the case of investments not at fair value through profit and loss financial assets 
are recognised initially at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs or at carrying value if reclassified from investments in 
associates. Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by regulation or 
convention marketplace (regular way purchases) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that PEPR commits to purchase or sell 
the asset.

PEPR’s financial assets include cash and short-term deposits, trade and other receivables, unquoted financial instruments available for 
sale, and derivative financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading and financial assets designated upon the initial 
recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of 
selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the PEPR that do not meet hedge 
accounting criteria as defined by IAS 39. Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading 
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments. Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are carried in the 
consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with gains or losses recognised in the consolidated income statement. 

Loans and receivables 
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. 
Such financial assets are carried at amortised costs using the effective interest rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement when the loans and receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 

Held-to-maturity investments 
Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are classified as held-to-maturity when PEPR has 
the positive intention and ability to hold it to maturity. After initial measurement held-to-maturity investments are measured at amortised 
costs using the effective interest method. This method uses an effective interest rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to the net carrying amount of the financial asset. Gains and losses are recognised 
in the consolidated income statement when the investments are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the amortisation process. 

Available-for-sale financial assets
Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available-for-sale or are not classified in any of 
the three preceding categories. After initial measurement, available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value with unrealised 
gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income until the investment is (i) derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or 
loss recorded in other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated income statement, or (ii) determined to be impaired, at 
which time the cumulative loss recorded in other comprehensive income is recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
2.8 Financial Liabilities 
Initial recognition
Financial liabilities within the scope of IAS 39 are classified as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss, loans and 
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate. PEPR determines the classification 
of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value except for loans and borrowings, which are recognised at fair value net of directly 
attributable transactions costs.

PEPR’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables, loans and borrowings, and derivatives financial instruments.

Subsequent measurement 
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss includes financial liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities designated upon 
the initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss. Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling in the near term. This category includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the PEPR that do not meet 
hedging accounting criteria as defined by IAS 39. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the consolidated 
income statement.

Loans and borrowings
After initial recognition, interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised costs using the effective interest 
rate method. Gains and losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process. 

Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts issued by PEPR are those contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the holder for a loss it 
incurs because the specified debtor fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. Financial 
guarantee contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
issuance of a guarantee. Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle 
the present obligation at the balance sheet date and the amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.

Offsetting of financial instrument 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the consolidated statement of financial position if, and 
only if, there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments 
The fair value of financial instruments that are actively traded in organised financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market 
bid prices at the close of business on the balance sheet date. For financial instruments where there is no active market, fair value is 
determined using valuation techniques. Such techniques may include using recent arm’s length market transactions; reference to the 
current fair value of another instrument that is substantially the sale, discounted cash flows analysis or other valuation methods.

Amortised cost of financial instruments
Amortised costs are computed using the effective interest rate method less any allowance for impairment and principal repayment or 
reduction. The calculation takes into account any premium or discount on acquisition and includes transaction costs and fees that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate.

2.9 Impairment of financial assets
PEPR assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is any objective evidence that a financial asset is impaired. A financial asset is 
deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that has occurred after 
the initial recognition of the asset (an incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 
financial asset that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is 
experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter 
bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated cash 
flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
Available-for-sale investments
For available-for-sale investments, PEPR assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that an investment is 
impaired. In the case of equity investments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged 
decline in the fair value of the investment below its cost. Where there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss – measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously recognised in 
the consolidated income statement – is removed from other comprehensive income and recognised in the consolidated income statement. 
Impairment losses on equity investments are not reversed through the consolidated income statement; increases in their fair value after 
impairment are recognised in other comprehensive income.

In the case of debt instruments classified as available-for-sale, objective evidence is assessed based on the same criteria as financial 
asset carried at amortised cost. Interest continues to be accrued at the original effective interest rate on the reduced carrying amount of 
the asset and is recorded as part of “finance income”. If, in a subsequent year, the fair value of the debt instrument increases and the 
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the consolidated income statement, 
the impairment loss is reversed through the consolidated income statement.

2.10 Derecognition of financial instruments 
Financial assets 
A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or a part of similar financial assets) is derecognised when:
i) The rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired; or
ii) PEPR has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full 

without material delay to a third party under a “pass through” arrangement; and either (a) PEPR has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) PEPR has neither transferred nor substantially retained all the risks and rewards of the asset, but 
has transferred control of the asset.

When PEPR has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, and has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, a new asset is recognised 
to the extent of PEPR’s continuing involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that 
PEPR could be required to repay. When continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchased option (including a cash 
settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of PEPR’s continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred 
asset that PEPR may repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash settled option or similar provision) on 
an asset measured at fair value, the extent of PEPR’s continuing involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred 
asset and the option exercise price.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged, or cancelled or expires. When an existing 
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are 
substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new 
liability, with the difference in the respective carrying amount recognised in the consolidated income statement.

2.11 Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement
PEPR uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency contracts and interest rate swaps to hedge risks associated with 
interest rate and foreign currency fluctuations. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at the fair value on the date 
on which the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as financial assets 
when the fair value is positive and as financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value on derivatives during the year that do not qualify for hedge accounting and the 
ineffective portion of an effective hedge, are taken directly to the consolidated income statement. The effectiveness of the hedge is 
assessed by comparing the value of the hedged item with the notional value implicit in the contractual terms of the financial instrument 
being used in the hedge (Note 25).

The fair value of forward currency contracts is the difference between the forward exchange rate and the contract rate. The forward 
exchange rate is referenced to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate 
swap contracts is determined by reference to market values for similar instruments.
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as either fair value hedges, where they hedge the exposure to changes in the 
fair value of a recognised asset or liability, or cash flow hedges where they hedge exposure to variability in cash flows is attributable to a 
particular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability, or hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.

At the inception of a hedge relationship, PEPR formally designates and documents the hedge relationship to which it wishes to apply 
hedge accounting as well as the risk management objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge. The documentation includes 
identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and how the entity will 
assess the hedging instrument’s effectiveness in offsetting the exposure to changes in the hedged item’s fair value or cash flows 
attributable to the hedged risk. Such hedges are expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in fair value or cash flows 
and are assessed on an ongoing basis to determine that they actually have been highly effective throughout the financial reporting period 
for which they are designated.

Hedges which meet the criteria for hedge accounting are accounted for as follows:

Fair value hedges
The change in the fair value of a hedging derivative is recognised in the consolidated income statement. The change in the fair value of 
the hedged item attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as a part of the carrying value of the hedged item and is also recognised in 
the consolidated income statement. 

Cash flow hedges 
For cash flow hedges used to manage interest rate risks which meet the criteria for hedge accounting, PEPR records interest on the 
hedged loan at an interest rate implicit in the swap agreement. Cash flow hedges are valued at fair value and included under “Hedging 
instruments” in the consolidated statement of financial position. The effective portion of the gain or loss on the effective hedging 
instrument is recognised in other comprehensive income, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the consolidated income 
statement. Amounts taken to other comprehensive income are transferred to the consolidated income statement when the hedged 
transaction affects profit or loss, such as when the hedged financial income or financial expense is recognised or when the forecast  
sale occurs.

Those financial instruments which do not meet the conditions for hedge accounting are accounted for at fair value with changes in fair 
value recognised immediately as a component of the consolidated income statement.

Where financial instruments are unwound prior to their planned maturity, any gain or loss and associated costs are recorded in “Finance 
income” or “Finance expenses” in the period in which the swap is unwound.

PEPR uses interest rate swaps as hedges of its exposure to changes in the market interest rates (see Note 11 and Note 25).

Hedges of a net investment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation included a hedged monetary item that is accounted for as part of the net investment, 
are accounted for in a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the 
hedge are recognised in other comprehensive income while any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative value of any such gains or losses recognised in other 
comprehensive income is transferred to the consolidated income statement.

2.12 Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate consideration transferred and 
the amount recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. If this 
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired the difference is recognised in the profit or loss. 
Following recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for impairment, 
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of 
PEPR’s cash generating units, or groups of cash generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination, 
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of PEPR are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the goodwill relates. Where the 
recoverable amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
2.13 Amounts due between related parties
Amounts due from or to related parties (see Note 16) are stated at amortised cost.

2.14 Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are carried at amortised cost less provisions for doubtful debts, if any. The Management Company assesses specific 
provisions on a customer by customer basis throughout the period. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established where 
there is objective evidence that PEPR will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probably that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or 
delinquency in payments are considered indicators that the trade receivable is impaired. The amount of the provision is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement within “Other property rental expenses”. When a trade receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against 
the allowance account for trade receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against “Other property 
rental expenses” in the consolidated income statement.

2.15 Current assets and liabilities
The fair value of other current financial assets and liabilities due within one year approximate the carrying value disclosed in the 
consolidated financial statements, due to the short time in which these transactions are settled.

2.16 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash includes cash on hand and cash with banks. Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
The use and disbursement of certain cash deposits are restricted under the terms of various financing agreements (see Note 6).

2.17 Capital contributions
Capital contributions represent the amount of capital called and contributed to PEPR by unitholders since the inception of PEPR and are 
measured at cost.

2.18 Cost of raising capital and launching PEPR
General fund launch costs are written off through the consolidated income statement in the period in which they are incurred. The cost 
of raising capital represents direct costs incurred in establishing or increasing the capital of PEPR including, amongst others, legal, 
accounting and investment bankers’ fees. Such costs are netted against the capital raised and are disclosed as a separate component 
of equity.

2.19 Distributions
Distributions are recognised as a liability in the period in which they are declared and approved but not yet paid. The Management 
Regulations create an obligation to declare a quarterly dividend to preferred unitholders unless distributable cash flows are not sufficient 
and therefore the preferred dividend distribution is recorded in the period to which it relates. The PEPR Board has discretion to adjust 
dividend distributions to unitholders to maintain an appropriate capital structure (see Note 10).

2.20 Interest bearing debt
Debt, comprising secured and unsecured notes and bank loans, is carried on the consolidated statement of financial position at the fair 
value of the initial proceeds less the unamortised portion of discounts and transaction costs incurred to acquire the debt. Discounts 
and transaction costs are amortised over the life of the related debt through finance expenses using the effective interest rate method 
(see Note 2.30).

Transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by regulatory agencies and securities 
exchanges, and transfer taxes and duties. Transaction costs do not include Management Company fees.

2.21 Taxation
The consolidated subsidiaries of PEPR are subject to taxation in the countries in which they operate. Current taxation is provided for at 
the applicable current rates on the respective taxable profits.
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
2.22 Deferred taxation
Deferred income tax is provided for using the liability method for temporary differences at the balance sheet date between the tax base of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amount for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:
i) where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 

combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
ii) in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interests in joint ventures, 

where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, carry 
forward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised except:
iii) where the deferred income tax asset relating to the deductible temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or 

liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
the taxable profit or loss; and

iv) in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, associates and interest in joint ventures, 
deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred income tax assets to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred income tax assets are re-assessed at each balance sheet date and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that 
future taxable profit will allow the deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply when an asset is realised or the liability 
settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets against current 
tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

2.23 Provisions and expense accruals
A provision is recognised when, and only when PEPR has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event and it is 
probable (i.e. more likely than not) that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation and 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date and adjusted to 
reflect the current best estimate. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount of a provision is the present value 
of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation.

2.24 Deferred income
Deferred income represents rental income which has been billed to customers as at the balance sheet date, but which relates to 
future periods.

2.25 Revenue recognition – rental income
PEPR leases its buildings to customers under agreements that are classified as operating leases.

Rental income represents rents charged to customers and is recognised on a straight line basis taking account of any rent free periods 
and other lease incentives, net of any sales taxes, over the lease period to the first break option (“rent levelling”).

2.26 Revenue recognition – other property income
Other property income represents income derived from property sources other than rental income from customers, and is recognised on 
an accruals basis in the period to which it contractually relates, net of any sales taxes.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued
2.27 Expense recognition
Expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis. Expenses are charged to the consolidated income statement, except for those which are 
related to the raising of equity (see Note 2.18), the raising of debt (see Note 2.20) or incurred in the acquisition of an investment or 
construction of a property which are capitalised as part of the cost of an asset. Expenses arising on the disposal of investments are 
deducted from the disposal proceeds. PEPR acts as an agent in respect of the recovery of maintenance utilities and similar expenses and 
therefore they are presented net in the consolidated income statement.

2.28 Revenue recognition – Investment property disposals
Gains on the disposal of investments in property are recorded at the time title is transferred which corresponds to the time when 
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been passed to the buyer.

2.29 Finance income
Finance income includes interest income received during the period. Finance income is recorded using the effective interest rate for all 
financial instruments measured at amortised cost.

2.30 Finance expenses
Finance expenses include:
i) interest expenses related to secured and unsecured notes, long-term and short-term debt, and is recognised on an accruals basis;
ii) amortisation of transaction costs which are part of the effective interest rate (see Note 2.20);
iii) the effect of the unrealised change in the fair value of mark to market currency hedges related to the financing activities for the period 

(see Note 2.11);
iv) the effect of the unrealised foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets and liabilities arising in the period (see Note 2.2) 

plus the counterpart of (iii) above connected to the application of the net investment method in foreign operations and;
v) the effect of the realised foreign currency gains and losses on cash transactions completed during the period (see Note 2.2).

Finance expenses are recorded using the effective interest rate for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost.

2.31 Segment information
PEPR operates through its relationship with ProLogis, a system that allows customers’ needs to be serviced regardless of their location. 
The majority of the properties owned by PEPR are designed such that they are of similar standard and design, regardless of their location. 
The design of the buildings is such that they are attractive to similar customers across markets, and a number of ProLogis’ customers 
occupy properties across Europe. As a consequence of the generic nature of the properties and needs of the customers, the Management 
Company believes that it is appropriate to classify all operations under one industry segment, namely logistical property and in one 
region, namely Europe.

2.32 Subsequent events
Post-period-end events that provide additional information about PEPR’s position at the balance sheet date (adjusting events) are 
reflected in the consolidated financial statements. Post-period-end events that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements when significant.

2.33 Contingencies
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the consolidated financial statements. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is remote. The entity recognises a provision for the part of the obligation for which an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable.

A contingent asset is not recognised in the consolidated financial statements but disclosed when an inflow of economic benefits 
is probable.

2.34 New and amended standards and interpretations
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except that PEPR has adopted the following 
revised standards and IFRIC interpretation effective as of 1 January 2010:

IFRS 3R – Business Combinations and IAS 27R – Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements
IFRS 3R introduces a number of changes in the accounting for business combinations occurring after this date that will impact the 
amount of goodwill recognised, the reported results in the period that an acquisition occurs, and future reported results. IAS 27R requires 
that a change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary (without loss of control) is accounted for as an equity transaction. Therefore, such 
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transactions will no longer give rise to goodwill, nor will it give rise to a gain or loss. Furthermore, the amended standard changes the 
accounting for losses incurred by the subsidiary as well as the loss of control of a subsidiary. Other consequential amendments were 
made to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, IAS 12 Income Taxes, IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates, IAS 28. 
Investment in Associates and IAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures. The changes by IFRS 3R and IAS 27R affect the accounting for future 
acquisitions or loss of control and transactions with minority interests. The adoption of the revised standard did not have any effect on 
the financial position or performance of PEPR, but had an impact on accounting policies of PEPR.

IAS 39 – Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement – Eligible Hedged Items
The amendment addresses the designation of a one-sided risk in a hedged item, and the designation of inflation as a hedged risk or 
portion in particular situations. It clarifies that an entity is permitted to designate a portion of the fair value changes or cash flow 
variability of a financial instrument as a hedged item. The adoption of the amendment did not have any effect on the financial position or 
performance of PEPR.

IFRIC 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners
This interpretation provides guidance on how to account for non-cash distributions to owners. The interpretation clarifies when to 
recognise a liability, how to measure it and the associated assets, and when to derecognise the asset and liability. The adoption of the 
interpretation did not have impact on PEPR consolidated financial statements as PEPR has not made any non-cash distributions to 
unitholders in the past.

Improvements to IFRSs
In April 2009, the IASB issued an omnibus of amendments to its standards, primarily with a view to removing inconsistencies and 
clarifying wording. PEPR has adopted the following amendments to standards which are applicable to PEPR from 1 January 2010: 

IFRIC 9 Reassessment of Embedded Derivatives: clarifies the scope of IFRIC 9 and revised IFRS 3•	
IFRIC 16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation: allows entities to designate as a hedging instrument in a net investment •	
in a foreign operation an instrument that is held by the foreign operation that is being hedged.

The adoption of these amendments did not have material effect on PEPR’s consolidated financial statements.

2.35 Standards issued but not yet effective
The IASB and IFRIC have issued a number of standards and interpretations with an effective date after the date of these consolidated 
financial statements. Management has set out below only those which may have a material impact on the financial statements in 
future periods.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 as issued reflects the first and second phases of the IASB’s work on the replacement of IAS 39 and applies to classification, 
measurement and derecognition of financial assets and financial liabilities as defined in IAS 39. The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013. In subsequent phases, the IASB will address hedge accounting and impairment. PEPR will 
quantify the effect on the Group in conjunction with the other phases, when issued, to present a comprehensive picture.

3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements
PEPR makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of 
future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

3.1 Investment in properties
PEPR accounts for the value of its investment properties using the fair value model under IAS40. The definition of Fair Value has been 
defined by the International Valuation Standards Council (IVSC) as “The amount for which an asset could be exchanged, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties, in an arms-length transaction”. The IVSC considers that the requirements of the fair value model are met 
by the valuer adopting Market Value. Fair value is not intended to represent the liquidation value of the property, which would be 
dependent upon the price negotiated at the time of sale less any associated selling costs. The fair value is largely based on estimates 
using property valuation techniques and other valuation methods as outlined below. Such estimates are inherently subjective and actual 
values can only be determined in a sales transaction.

2 Basis of preparation and accounting policies continued

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements continued
PEPR uses three Independent Valuers, rotating assets periodically in accordance with best practice. The Valuers currently appointed are 
Jones Lang LaSalle, CB Richard Ellis and DTZ all of whom are pre-approved by the Luxembourg financial regulator, the CSSF. Valuations 
are prepared in accordance with the appropriate sections of the Practice Statements (PS) and United Kingdom Practice Statements 
(UKPS) contained within the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) Valuation Standards, 6th Edition. Each Independent Valuer is 
remunerated on a fixed fee basis per property. 

The Management Company ensures that PEPR’s portfolio is revalued on a six monthly basis by the Independent Valuers. At each 
valuation date, the Management Company reviews the latest independent valuations to ensure that all pertinent information has been 
accurately reflected. The last valuation exercise by the Independent Valuers was performed as at 31 December 2010. 

Valuations are predominantly undertaken on an income capitalisation approach using comparable recent market transactions on arm’s 
length terms. In those countries where Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) is the primary basis of assessment of value, that methodology is 
adopted. Valuations are based on various assumptions as to tenure, letting, town planning, the condition and repair of buildings and 
sites – including ground and groundwater contamination, as well as the best estimates of applicable Net Operating Income (NOI), 
reversionary rents, leasing periods, purchasers’ costs, etc. 

The table below summarises the average effective net portfolio yield per country and is defined as the annualised rental income less 
non-recoverable property expenses, expressed as a percentage of gross market value i.e. before the deduction of notional 
purchasers’ costs.

Net portfolio yield

Country 2010 2009

Belgium 8.0% 7.8%
Czech Republic 7.2% 7.5%
France 8.0% 8.7%
Germany 7.7% 8.2%
Hungary 8.1% 8.9%
Italy 6.7% 8.2%
The Netherlands 6.6% 7.6%
Poland 7.8% 8.8%
Spain 8.0% 7.8%
Sweden 7.8% 7.5%
UK 8.0% 8.6%

3.2 Current and deferred income taxes
PEPR is subject to income and capital gains taxes in many jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining the total 
provision for current and deferred income taxes. Numerous transactions and calculations exist for which the ultimate tax determination 
and timing of payment is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. PEPR recognises liabilities for anticipated taxes based on 
estimates of whether additional amounts will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income and deferred tax provisions in the period in which the determination 
is made.

3.3 Fair value currency and interest rate swaps
PEPR estimates fair values of swaps by reference to current market conditions compared to the terms of the swap agreements using the 
results of an external valuation (see Note 12).

3.4 Fair value financial liabilities
The fair value of loans and borrowing approximates to the carrying value disclosed in the consolidated financial statements due to the 
variable interest terms attached to those borrowings, except for unsecured notes which bear fixed interest rates (see Note 25.8).

3.5 Classification of preferred units
Judgement is required to determine whether preferred units should be classified as a financial liability or equity in accordance with 
IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation. Based on the terms and conditions of the Class A(1) convertible preferred units issued in 
December 2009 PEPR has determined that the preferred units have equity rather than financial liability characteristics. This was 
primarily based on the fact that the preferred unitholders have no put option requiring PEPR to repay the units and that the Management 
Company has discretion to postpone the payment of preferred distributions under certain conditions (see Note 7).
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3 Significant accounting estimates and judgements continued
3.6 Operating lease contracts
PEPR enters into commercial property leases on its investment property portfolio. It has determined, based on evaluation of the terms 
and conditions of the arrangements, that it retains all significant risks and rewards of ownership of these properties and so accounts for 
the leases as operating leases.

4 Accounts receivable, net

 

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Accounts receivable with customers 40,198 42,851 
Unbilled recoveries 2,893 4,889 
Allowance for uncollectible accounts receivable (3,967) (2,522)
Other receivables 1,673 1,680 

 40,797 46,898 

The ageing analysis of accounts receivable with customers after deducting the allowance for uncollectable recoverables is as follows:

Total 
€000

<30  
days 

€000

30 to 60  
days 

€000

60 to 90  
days 

€000

>90  
days 

€000

31 December 2010  36,231  34,674 309 256  992 
31 December 2009  40,329  38,176  1,775  206  172 

The level of accounts receivable with customers varies due to the timing of the issue of invoices and receipt of those monies for the 
succeeding quarter.

Bad debt provision is as follows (all individually impaired):

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Opening balance 2,522 3,019 
Charge for the year 1,585 1,842 
Utilised  (140)  (1,823)
Unused amounts reversed – (516) 

Closing balance 3,967 2,522 

5 Other current assets
31 December 

2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

VAT recoverable 3,924 5,035 
Deposits with utility companies 398 1,820 
Prepaid expenses and other receivables 14,195 14,120 
Insurance receivable 32 717 

 18,549 21,692 

6 Cash and cash equivalents

 

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Restricted cash 662 30,520 
Unrestricted cash 22,104 34,010 

 22,766 64,530 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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6 Cash and cash equivalents continued
Restricted cash is reduced in the period after the repayment of the secured notes in May 2010. In the comparative year, certain 
restrictions were applied to rental income until interest payments for the applicable quarter were made. PEPR also received proceeds 
from swap contracts of which an amount of €5.8 million was held as restricted cash at 31 December 2009.

7 Ownership of PEPR
The rights of holders of ordinary units may be limited in several important ways compared to rights that typically attach to ordinary 
shares, including the following:
i) the Management Company has the exclusive right to manage PEPR in the exclusive interests of unitholders and has the sole power to 

table resolutions to the PEPR Board on all but a limited number of decisions;
ii) the Management Regulations limit when the Management Company can be replaced, other than for cause (see Note 25.3);
iii) ordinary unitholders (including ProLogis and ProLogis Related Parties) have the right to elect four independent Board Members upon 

proposal by a nomination committee, and the Management Company has the right to appoint two ProLogis Board Members; and
iv) although the Independent Board Members will represent a majority of the Board, they will have limited rights with respect to the 

governance of PEPR. 

The Management Regulations define the formula by which the Management Company is contractually obliged to calculate distributable 
cash flow of PEPR and to distribute such amount, if any, to unitholders each quarter. The PEPR Board has discretion to adjust dividend 
distributions to unitholders to appropriately manage the capital structure. No distributions can be paid to holders of ordinary units until all 
dividends owed on preferred units are fully paid.

Holders of preferred units, in priority to holders of ordinary units, shall receive pro-rata out of distributable cash flow a cumulative cash 
distribution per annum of 10.5% of the issue price (€5.93) quarterly in arrears. Preferred dividends are deferrable, if deemed appropriate 
by the Management Company, with deferred dividends accruing interest at the rate of the preferred return compounded quarterly.

Number of Units issued

31 December 
2010 

No. of Units

31 December 
2009 

No. of Units

Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units 10,298,510 10,298,510
Ordinary units 190,522,441 190,522,441

Par value in issue

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units 61,070 61,070
Ordinary units 1,911,810 1,911,810

Total capital contributions 1,972,880 1,972,880

Calculation of Net Asset Value (NAV) per unit
The NAV per Unit of each Class (or any Series thereof) shall be expressed in the relevant currency of denomination of such Units and 
shall be determined as at any Valuation Day by dividing (i) the net assets of PEPR, attributable to each Class of Units (or any Series 
thereof), being the value of the portion of assets less the portion of liabilities attributable to such Class (or Series thereof), on any such 
Valuation Day, by (ii) the number of Units in the relevant Class (or Series) then outstanding, in accordance with the valuation rules set 
forth below, provided that the assets attributable to each Class of Units (or Series) shall be determined in accordance with the rules 
applicable to the distribution of Residual Value upon a winding-up of PEPR.

Redemption of Units
Ordinary and Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units shall be redeemed by the Management Company in accordance with the provisions 
set out in the Management Regulations. The price, if there would be such redemption of Units, would be the NAV of the Units of the 
relevant Class on the most recent valuation day prior to redemption. 
 
The Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units may be redeemed by the Management Company, under various scenarios described in the 
Management Regulations, including the service of notice on the last business day of any quarter end on or after December 2016. The 
Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units may be converted into ordinary units at anytime in whole or in part by holders sending a conversion 
notice to the Management Company; the conversion ratio shall be one to one. The Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units will 
automatically convert after the seventh anniversary of issue once the trading price of the ordinary units is greater than €7.709 per unit 
(130% of the issue price of the preferred units) for a period of 20 consecutive business days.



ProLogis European Properties Annual Report 201056

Financial Statements 

8 Earnings per unit
2010 2009

Gain/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary unitholders (€’000)
Basic 13,371  (313,411)
Diluted 19,874 (313,253)
Weighted average number of ordinary units issued during the year (units)
Basic 190,522,441 190,522,441 
Diluted 200,820,951 190,776,377 
Gain/(loss) per ordinary unit (€)
Basic 0.07  (1.65)
Diluted 0.10  (1.64)

9 Distributions per unit

Class of Unit
2010 

€ per unit
2009 

€ per unit

Class A(1) Convertible Preferred Units 0.63 0.02
Ordinary – –

In December 2008 the Board of PEPR decided to suspend the dividend distributions to the ordinary unitholders starting from the fourth 
quarter 2008 as a part of PEPR’s deleveraging strategy.

10 Capital management
The primary objective of PEPR’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in 
order to support its business and maximise unitholder value. PEPR manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of 
changes in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, PEPR may adjust dividend distributions to unitholders, issue 
Units or buy them back.

In light of the turmoil in the global financial markets since 2008, PEPR has embarked upon a major restructuring of its debt position to 
adopt a largely secured financing model. However, as market fundamentals improve and the capital markets move to a more stable 
position, the view of the Management Company is that PEPR’s capital structure should be balanced with unsecured financings. A new 
unsecured revolving credit facility was signed during the year.

PEPR monitors its overall leverage limits using a loan to value (LTV) ratio, which is total debt divided by the gross capital value of 
investment property. Under PEPR’s Management Regulations, it may not incur additional indebtedness (whether secured or unsecured) 
which would cause the LTV ratio to exceed 60%. For the purposes of effective cash management, however, PEPR may exceed this limit 
for temporary or short-term purposes for a period not to exceed six months, provided that the LTV ratio does not exceed 65% at any time. 

For this ratio, PEPR includes within debt, secured and unsecured notes and interest bearing bank loans and associated capitalised 
transaction costs. 

 

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Interest bearing notes and bank loans, net of current portion 1,537,878  1,157,847 
Interest bearing notes and bank loans, current portion 4,585  460,853 
Add back: Transaction costs capitalised 28,132 20,243

Total debt 1,570,595 1,638,943

Gross market value of investment property 2,963,841 2,980,594

Loan to value ratio 53.0% 55.0%

The loan to value ratio does not take into account the amount of cash balances of the business. Taking unrestricted cash of €22.1 million 
(2009: €34.0 million) into account, this ratio would be 52.2% as at 31 December 2010 (2009: 53.8%). PEPR intends to increase the 
headroom on the loan to value limit through continued deleveraging and refinancing initiatives currently under way.

Under the current financing arrangements, PEPR must comply with certain debt covenants including overall and unsecured leverage tests 
as well as debt service coverage tests. At the end of 2010, PEPR was in compliance with all its debt covenants.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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11 Interest bearing notes and borrowings

 Maturity Currency Interest rate

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Unsecured notes  
Eurobonds Oct 2014 EUR fixed according to rating, 

5.875% or 7.625%
493,750 495,750

 493,750 495,750
Secured notes
Pan European Industrial  

Properties Series III S.A.
May 2010 EUR three month Euribor + 

35bps to 85bps
– 24,240

Pan European Industrial  
Properties Series IV S.A.

May 2010 EUR three month Euribor + 
14bps to 30bps

– 66,350

– 90,590
Unsecured credit facilities
Revolving loans Dec 2010 EUR one month Euribor + 

265bps (incl. facility fee)
– 73,000

Tranche I loans Dec 2010 EUR one month Euribor +265bps – 300,000
Tranche II loans Dec 2012 EUR one month Euribor +270bps 109,000 129,000
Tranche II loans Dec 2012 GBP one month Libor +270bps 145,243 138,772
Revolving credit facility Aug 2013 EUR one month Euribor +240bps 10,000 –

264,243 640,772
Secured bank loans
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG Mar 2013 EUR three month Euribor +250bps 126,000 126,000
Eurohypo AG Jul 2013 GBP three month Libor +250bps 101,311 96,798
Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale Oct 2014 EUR three month Euribor +244bps 15,107 15,500
Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale Oct 2014 SEK three month Stibor +288bps 36,107 31,616
Crédit Agricole CIB Mar 2013 GBP three month Libor +250bps 50,570 48,317
Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale Jan 2013 EUR three month Euribor +210bps 45,300 45,300
Berlin-Hannoversche Hypothekenbank AG Jan 2014 EUR three month Euribor +167bps 73,445 48,300
Goldman Sachs Syndicated Loan Jan 2014 EUR three month Euribor +277bps 297,750 –
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG Dec 2013 EUR three month Euribor +250bps 38,487 –
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG Dec 2013 GBP three month Libor +250bps 28,525 –

812,602 411,831

Total proceeds from notes and borrowings 1,570,595 1,638,943
Less transaction costs (28,132) (20,243)

Total notes and borrowings 1,542,463 1,618,700
Less current portion (4,585) (460,853)

Total long-term notes and borrowings 1,537,878 1,157,847

Unsecured notes
On 23 October 2007, ProLogis International Funding S.A., a subsidiary of PEPR issued €500.0 million 5.875% Eurobonds maturing on 
23 October 2014 which are guaranteed by PEPR. The interest payable on the Eurobonds increases, or decreases if previously increased, 
based on a credit rating change of the unsecured debt. Following the downgrade of PEPR’s credit rating by Moody’s to below Baa3 in 
June 2009, the interest rate increased by 1.75% to 7.625% per annum as of 23 October 2009. If there is a subsequent rating increase 
to Baa3 or above, the interest rate will revert to 5.875% at the subsequent annual reset date (23 October). The interest rate is 
set annually.

The Eurobonds are listed on the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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11 Interest bearing notes and borrowings continued
Secured notes
In 2003 and 2005, euro secured floating rate notes have been issued by certain Special Purpose Entities. All obligations under these 
notes were fulfilled prior to maturity in May 2010 and no amounts were outstanding at 31 December 2010.

Unsecured credit facility
On 11 December 2007, PEPR entered into an unsecured senior credit facility with a syndicate of 19 banks led by Bank of America 
Securities LLC and ABN Amro Bank, N.A. providing for loans of up to €900.0 million. As at 31 December 2009, €640.8 million had 
been advanced and a balance of €227.0 million was available to be drawn down subject to such additional drawing not resulting in any 
breaches of, amongst other things, the financial covenants.

Amounts drawn down under the facility are identified as Tranche I, Tranche II or revolving loans. Tranche I loans (€300.0 million) were 
term loans, with a final maturity of 13 December 2010 which were fully repaid on 29 January 2010. With effect from 12 February 2010, 
PEPR reduced the principal of the revolving loan, with a final maturity of 13 December 2010, from €300.0 million to €100.0 million and 
subsequently fully repaid the outstanding balance on 11 August 2010 with a new unsecured revolving credit facility. Tranche II loans of 
€109.0 million and £123.5 million (2009: €129.0 million and £123.5 million) are in the form of term loans with a final maturity date of 
11 December 2012.

The current rate on the remaining Tranche II facility is Euribor or Libor +270bps. Prior to 2 November 2008, the rate was Euribor 
+70bps. Due to a downgrade of PEPR’s credit rating the rate changed to Euribor +80bps on 3 November 2008. The Management 
Company renegotiated a number of the terms to the agreement on 30 December 2008, and as part of this renegotiation the rate was 
amended to Euribor +225 bps. In April 2009 the rates changed to +245bps due to PEPR’s credit rating being downgraded to Baa3. On 
19 June 2009, PEPR’s credit rating was further downgraded to Ba1 which resulted in a further increase in rates to Euribor +270bps. 

Secured bank loans
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG (formerly: Hypo Real Estate Bank International)
On 20 February 2004 a secured bank loan of €151.1 million was provided by Hypo Real Estate Bank International (now Deutsche 
Pfandbriefbank AG) and secured on the assets of certain subsidiaries located in Poland, Hungary and the Czech Republic. On 2 July 
2009, PEPR extended the original loan agreement with Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG reducing the loan amount to €126.0 million, and 
extending expiry from the original expiry date of 15 March 2010 to 15 March 2013.

On 22 December 2009 a secured bank loan of €74.5 million was provided by Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, and secured on the assets of 
certain subsidiaries located in France and United Kingdom. The €66.9 million tranche, funded as €39.6 million and £24.3 million was 
received on 20 January 2010. On 6 May 2010 the remaining commitment of €7.6 million was cancelled. The loan matures in 
December 2013.

Eurohypo AG
On 24 July 2009 a secured bank loan of £86.1 million was provided by Eurohypo AG and secured on the assets of certain subsidiaries 
located in the United Kingdom. The loan matures on 17 July 2013.

Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale
On 12 October 2009 a secured bank loan of €47.4 million, funded as €15.5 million and SEK 332.5 million, was provided by 
Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale and secured on the assets of certain subsidiaries located in Sweden. The loan matures on 
6 October 2014.

On 2 December 2009 a secured bank loan of €45.3 million was provided by Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale and secured on 
the assets of certain subsidiaries located in the Netherlands. The loan matures on 31 January 2013 and under certain conditions 
extendable up to 31 January 2015.

Crédit Agricole CIB
On 4 December 2009 a secured bank loan of £43.0 million was provided by a syndicate of banks headed by Crédit Agricole CIB as 
arranger and secured on the assets of certain subsidiaries located in the United Kingdom. The loan matures on 28 March 2013.

Berlin-Hannoversche Hypothekenbank AG
On 17 December 2009 a secured bank loan of €74.0 million was provided by Berlin-Hannoversche Hypothekenbank AG and secured on 
the assets of certain subsidiaries located in Germany and Poland. The loan matures on 15 January 2014.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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11 Interest bearing notes and borrowings continued
Goldman Sachs Syndicated Loan
On 22 December 2009 a secured bank loan of €300.0 million was provided by a syndicate of six European lenders arranged by Goldman 
Sachs as sole arranger. The syndicate includes Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG (as facility and security agent), AXA, BAWAG P.S.K., Credit 
Foncier de France, M&G Investments and ING Real Estate Finance. The loan is secured on the assets of certain subsidiaries located in 
France, Spain, Italy and Belgium. The loan matures on 20 January 2014.

Summary of drawn and available debt facilities (excluding transaction costs):

 31 December 2010 31 December 2009

 
Total 

€000
Drawn 
€000

Available 
€000

Total 
€000

Drawn 
€000

Available 
€000

Unsecured notes  493,750  493,750 –  495,750  495,750 –
Secured notes – – –  90,590  90,590 –
Unsecured credit facilities  304,243  264,243  40,000  900,000  640,772 227,000
Secured bank loans  812,602  812,602 –  437,531  411,831 25,700 

 1,610,595 1,570,595  40,000 1,923,871  1,638,943  252,700 

Summary of the pledged assets and their values for the secured notes and loans:

 

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Secured notes: investment properties – 199,798
Secured bank loans: investment properties 1,588,464 832,475

 1,588,464 1,032,273

12 Current and deferred taxation
PEPR is an unincorporated contractual co-ownership scheme governed by Part II of the law on Undertakings for Collective Investments of 
20 December 2002.

According to legislation currently in force, PEPR is not subject to corporate income or capital gains taxes in Luxembourg. It is, however, 
liable to an annual subscription tax based upon the net asset value of the fund. This tax is 0.05% per annum on the net assets 
attributable to unitholders. The tax, payable quarterly, is assessed on the last day of each quarter.

Real estate revenues, or capital gains derived from real estate, may be subject to taxes by assessment, withholding or otherwise in the 
countries where the real estate is situated.

PEPR’s subsidiaries depreciate their historical property cost in accordance with applicable tax regulations. Depreciation is deducted from 
taxable profits in determining current taxable income.

The restatement of PEPR’s deferred tax liability is described in Note 2 of these financial statements.

No deferred tax liabilities have been accrued in respect of unremitted profits contained in direct and indirect subsidiaries of PEPR as it is 
unlikely that these profits will be remitted to the parent in a manner which will attract income tax.
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31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 

restated
 €000

Deferred tax liability   
Opening balance (restated) 109,663 189,824 
Effect of revaluations of properties to fair value and depreciation for tax purposes, post acquisition 5,244  (74,453)
Deferred tax on capital gains eligible for netting against tax losses carried forward  (3,829) – 
Deferred tax previously provided on properties disposed of –  (5,708) 

Closing balance 111,078 109,663 

Made up of:  
Revaluation and tax depreciation of investment properties 114,907 109,663 
Netting against deferred tax asset  (3,829) – 

Total deferred tax liability 111,078 109,663 

The opening balance for 2009 is made up of €186,654 related to revaluation of investment properties to fair value and €3,170 related to 
business combinations.

At 31 December 2010 the unrecognised portion of deferred tax assets related to property fair value movements was €4.0 million and the 
unrecognised deferred tax asset on losses carried forward was €8.0 million (31 December 2009: €4.1 million and €3.5 million 
respectively, 31 December 2008: €0.6 million and nil respectively).

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 

restated  
€000

Deferred tax asset
Opening balance 10,381 5,625 
Relating to tax losses carried forward  (1,859) 4,756 
Deferred tax on carry forward losses eligible for netting against capital gains  (3,829) –

Closing balance 4,693 10,381 

Made up of:  
Deferred tax asset on tax losses carried forward 8,522 10,381
Netting against deferred tax liabilities  (3,829) – 

Total deferred tax asset 4,693 10,381 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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12 Current and deferred taxation continued
The opening balance for 2009 is made up of €5,625 related to the deferred tax asset on tax losses carried forward.

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 

restated  
€000

Income and other current taxes payable  
Opening balance 22,845 16,449 
Tax expense 13,767 30,804 
Tax paid  (25,084)  (24,408)

Closing balance 11,528 22,845 

Current tax expense  
Income taxes 12,124 28,726 
Other taxes 1,038 1,437 
Subscription taxes 605 641 

Current tax expense 13,767 30,804 

Deferred tax expense/(benefit)  
Arising from liabilities 5,244  (74,453)
Arising from properties disposed of –  (5,708)
Foreign currency translation of deferred tax asset or liability  (1,092) –
Arising from assets 1,859  (4,756)

Deferred income tax expense/(benefit) 6,011  (84,917)

Charge/(benefit) for taxation reported in the consolidated income statement 19,778  (54,113)

The tax on the PEPR’s profit/(loss) before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the weighted average tax rate 
applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

 

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Accounting profit/(loss) before income tax 40,281 (368,592)
Tax calculated at domestic rates of blended 24.6% (2009: 26.3%) applicable to profits  

in the respective countries 9,908 (97,031)
Adjustment in respect to current income tax of previous years (3,088) (457)
Unrecognised deferred tax asset related to property fair value movements (114) 3,315
Unrecognised deferred tax asset on tax losses carried forward 4,461 3,511
Income not subject to tax (5,284) (10,943)
Expenses non-deductable for tax 12,252 45,414

At the effective income tax rate of 25.1% (2009: 28.6%) 18,135 (56,191)
Other taxes 1,038 1,437
Subscription tax 605 641

Charge/(benefit) for taxation as reported in the consolidated income statement 19,778 (54,113)
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13 Accrued expenses and other current liabilities

Notes

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

Accrued construction costs 3,645 2,692 
Security deposits 9,267 9,949 
Legal fee accruals 78 233 
Interest payable 16,603 11,445 
VAT payable 9,036 8,300 
Preferred distributions payable 1,658 158 
Management fee 16 – 2,156
Other accrued expenses 7,359 14,929 

 47,646 49,862 

14 Rental leases
PEPR leases real estate to occupants under operating leases. The terms of the leases are in line with normal practices in each market. 
Leases are reviewed or subject to automatic inflationary adjustments as appropriate. Operating expenses, where applicable, are recharged 
to customers either by way of direct charge or monthly service charges.

Lease payments receivable from non-cancellable leases are shown below. For the purposes of this schedule, it is conservatively assumed 
that a lease expires on the date of its first break option.

 

Amount 
receivable 

€000 Percentage

Within one year 217,049 27.1%
Between two and five years 455,126 56.7%
Five years and more 129,657 16.2%

 801,832 100.0%

15 Other property rental expenses
Property operating result comprises operating expenses net of amounts recoverable from customers and is analysed as follows:

 Notes
2010 
€000

2009 
€000

Maintenance and utilities 7,535 1,981 
Insurance costs 4,026 4,040 
Bad debt 4 1,585 1,326 
Property management fees 16 2,054 1,889

 15,200 9,236 

PEPR has contracted with the Management Company for the supply of management services. In return the Management Company has 
subcontracted a number of related management companies (wholly owned subsidiaries of ProLogis) to carry out various management 
functions for PEPR (Note 16.1).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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16 Transactions with related parties
16.1 ProLogis fees

 
2010 
€000

2009 
€000

ProLogis management fee represented as property management fee (45bps)  13,439 14,746 
ProLogis management fee represented as fund management fee (15bps) 4,473 4,910 

ProLogis management fee (60bps) 17,912 19,656 

Incentive fee – – 
Cash management fee 64 30 
Tax fee 1,016 421 
Legal fee 677 423 

Total ProLogis fees 19,669 20,530 

Fund management fees
Since the initial public offering of PEPR, the Management Company is entitled to charge the following management fees:
(i) a management fee equivalent to 60bps per annum of the gross property value of the Portfolio, excluding any interest in the real estate 

of any ProLogis Private Equity Funds or ProLogis Joint Ventures;
(ii) a cash management fee equal to 10bps per annum of unrestricted amounts held on deposit accounts, money market instruments or 

debt securities; and
(iii) an incentive fee of 20% of IFRS net income per Unit above a hurdle rate of an annual return of 9% of net assets over an average of 

three years.

Property management fees
The Management Company has entered into investment management agreements with ProLogis Belgium Management BVBA, ProLogis 
Czech Republic Management II Sro, ProLogis Management Services II SAS, ProLogis Germany Management II GmbH, ProLogis Hungary 
Management II Kft, ProLogis Italy Management II S.r.l., ProLogis Management B.V., ProLogis Poland Management II Sp zoo, ProLogis 
Spain Management II SL, ProLogis Sweden Management AB and ProLogis Developments Limited respectively incorporated under the 
laws of Belgium, Czech Republic, France, Germany, Hungary, Italy, the Netherlands, Poland, Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom 
(the ”Investment Managers”). Under the terms of these agreements, the Investment Managers carry out property management functions 
on behalf of PEPR. Fees paid to local non related investment managers are deducted from the base management fee received by the 
Management Company. 

Incentive fee
As per the Management Regulations, PEPR is shall pay the Management Company an incentive fee on 31 December 2008 and every year 
thereafter calculated on a rolling three years basis. The incentive fee becomes payable if PEPR’s IFRS earnings per unit for the year 
exceeds a hurdle rate of 9% of the opening IFRS NAV per unit for that year. Where this is the case, the incentive fee payable would be 
20% of the excess over the hurdle. The incentive fee, if any, is due for payment in the following year. At 31 December 2010 and 2009 no 
incentive fee was accrued or due.

Legal and tax compliance fees
Under the terms of the Management Regulations, ProLogis is entitled to receive fees in return for legal and tax compliance services 
provided to PEPR. These fees are calculated on an hourly basis in the case of legal fees, and on a per tax return basis for tax compliance 
fees, approved by the Board annually. The increase in the year is because ProLogis has taken on self-preparation of more tax returns for 
2009 than originally expected. Fees relating purely to 2010 tax returns, and payable to ProLogis on completion of those returns in 2011 
amounted to €725.

16.2 Leasehold agreements
PEPR has leased real estate to some of the Investment Managers on an arm’s length basis. Rent charged for the year ended 31 
December 2010 amounted to €149 (2009: €162).
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16 Transactions with related parties continued
16.3 Development fee
ProLogis entered into a number of contracts with indirect subsidiaries of PEPR to manage, on behalf of those subsidiaries, significant 
redevelopment or extension projects. In return ProLogis received a development fee of between 3.25% to 12% of the construction cost of 
the project, dependant on project size. These fees are included within the cost basis of real estate investments. Under the terms of the 
revised Management Regulations, the Board of PEPR will annually approve ProLogis development fee rates based upon evidence in the 
respective local markets.

16.4 Insurance
The Management Company has, on behalf of PEPR, entered into an insurance contract with a related party under which the first 
US$1 million of any claim is settled by that related party. The remainder of any claim is met by a syndicate of insurers who are not 
related parties.

16.5 Leasing commissions
Under the terms of the Management Regulations, the Board of PEPR must approve annually the leasing commission rates to be charged 
by ProLogis based upon evidence in the respective local markets. These commissions can only be charged by ProLogis in situations where 
no outside broker is involved in the lease negotiations.

16.6 Private equity fund investment agreement
Under the Private Equity Fund Investment Agreement, ProLogis has granted to PEPR the right to participate in offers for subscription of 
equity securities and securities convertible into equity securities by any ProLogis Private Equity Funds or ProLogis Joint Ventures in 
Europe, on the condition that these investments fulfil certain criteria.

17 Independent Board members compensation
The Board includes four independent members who are also members of the Audit committee. Each independent member receives a 
“one-time fee” of €75,000 upon their appointment in the form of PEPR units. Each year, compensation based on each member’s 
meeting attendance is also made to independent Board members. In addition, a pro-rata annual allocation of €25,000 of PEPR Units is 
made to each independent Board member.

31 December 
2010 
€000

31 December 
2009 
€000

One-time allocation of PEPR Units upon appointment – 75
Annual fee based on meetings attended 208 237
Annual allocation of PEPR Units 100 100

 308 412

Each allocation of Units to the independent Board members has a two year vesting period, at which point they vest in full.

18 ProLogis appointed Board members and PEPR senior management team compensation
The PEPR Board also contains two members appointed by ProLogis. No compensation is paid to ProLogis or to either ProLogis-appointed 
Board member in connection with their Board activities.

The senior management team of PEPR are employees of ProLogis and as such their remuneration and pension contributions are expenses 
of ProLogis. No compensation is paid by PEPR for their management services as their costs are incorporated within the overall 
management fee paid to ProLogis. 

The PEPR CEO receives the equity portion of his annual compensation in the form of PEPR units, whereas other members of the senior 
management team receive ProLogis units. Each allocation of PEPR units has a three-year vesting period. Since his appointment as CEO 
in February 2009, Peter Cassells has been granted 80,000 ordinary units, of which 30,000 have vested.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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19 Finance income

 
2010 
€000

2009 
€000

Interest income  307 1,087 
Dividend from other financial assets available for sale – 1,270

Total finance income  307 2,357 

20 Finance expense

 
Year 2010 

€000
Year 2009 

€000

Interest payable brought forward  (11,445)  (15,166)
Interest payable carried forward  16,603  11,445 
Interest paid  84,629  99,894 

Interest expense 89,787 96,173 
Amortisation of initial borrowing costs 11,431 10,524 

Total interest and amortisation expense 101,218 106,697 

Unrealised change in value of fair value hedges  (3,924) 10,140 
Other net unrealised foreign currency effects on monetary assets and liabilities 3,487  (9,189)
Cumulative realised losses 807 141 

Net foreign currency losses on monetary assets and liabilities 370 1,092 

Total finance expenses 101,588 107,789 

21 Other fund expenses

 
Year 2010 

€000
Year 2009 

€000

Professional fees 4,635 3,819
Marketing and advertising 58 44
Other expenses 2,592 1,932
Expenses incurred in relation to aborted change of status to SICAV – 3,276
Expenses incurred in relation to aborted second equity raise 500 –

7,785 9,071

22 Auditors remuneration

 
Year 2010 

€000
Year 2009 

€000

Professional audit services of PEPR’s IFRS consolidated financial statements 437 490
Professional audit services in relation to statutory audit of subsidiaries of PEPR 115 61
Professional audit services in relation to capital or debt transactions 134 579

686 1,130

23 Profit on disposal of investment property
Total 

Year 2010
Total 

Year 2009 UK properties
German 

properties
Dutch 

properties Other

Disposal proceeds – 189,097 72,751 50,842 65,462 42
Carrying value of properties and currency translation effects – (231,751) (110,157) (55,523) (66,018) (53)

(Loss)/gain on disposal of investment and development 
property – (42,654) (37,406) (4,681) (556) (11)
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23 Profit on disposal of investment property continued
On 12 May 2009, PEPR sold nine stand-alone assets in Germany and in The Netherlands to Curzon Capital Partners II, managed by AEW 
Europe. The portfolio comprised some 229,000 square metres of distribution warehouse space at four locations in Germany (Neumarkt, 
Peine, Soest and Straubing) and three locations in The Netherlands (Bergen op Zoom, Haaften and Rotterdam), with a remaining lease 
length of over six years. The proceeds from the disposal amounted €116.3 million. On 30 June 2009, PEPR sold five distribution 
facilities for a net consideration of £63.1 million (€72.8 million) to an affiliate of Harbert European Real Estate Fund II L.P. The 79,700 
square metre portfolio is situated in various locations throughout the UK, with a remaining average lease length of approximately  
10 years.

Recycling of the currency translation effects on disposal from other comprehensive loss to the loss on disposal of UK investment 
properties amounted to a loss of €23.7 million in 2009.

24 Net cash flow from operating activities

 Notes
2010 
€000

2009 
€000

Profit/(loss) before tax 40,281  (368,592)

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Reversal of rent levelling adjustment  (3,918) (387) 
Reversal of interest expense 20 89,787 96,173 
Amortisation of transaction costs relating to debt 20 11,431 10,524 
Unrealised change in value of fair value hedges 20  (3,924) 10,140 
Other net unrealised foreign currency losses 20 3,487  (9,189)
Net unrealised loss on the investment in real estate 69,807 445,777 
Realised loss/(gain) on sale of investment property – 42,654 
Gain on property insurance settlements  (2,573) –
Dividend from other financial assets available for sale –  (1,270)
Changes in working capital:
Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivable 6,101 13,199 
Decrease/(increase) in other assets 3,143 9,148 
(Decrease)/increase in accounts payable  (943) 2,429
Change in amounts from and due to related parties  (7,287) 3,708 
(Decrease)/increase in accrued expenses and other current liabilities  (8,885)  (12,540)
(Decrease)/increase in deferred income  (3,272)  (1,635)
Payment of income tax 12  (25,084)  (24,408)
Payment of interest 20  (84,629)  (99,894)

Net cash generated by operating activities 83,522 115,837

25 Financial risk management objectives and policies 
25.1 Investment in Property risk
Investment in property is subject to varying degrees of risk. The main factors which affect the value of the investment in property include 
but are not limited to:
i) changes in general economic climate;
ii) local conditions, such as an oversupply of distribution space or a reduction in demand for distribution space in an area;
iii) the relative attractiveness of PEPR’s distribution facilities to potential customers;
iv) government regulations, including zoning, usage, environmental and tax laws;
v) competition from other available Distribution Facilities, including those owned by, and under management of, affiliates of the 

Management Company and ProLogis and ProLogis related parties;
vi) PEPR’s ability to provide adequate maintenance of, and insurance on, the Distribution Facilities;
vii) PEPR’s ability to achieve optimal rental growth and control operating costs, including energy costs;
viii) potential liability under, and changes in, environmental, zoning and other laws;
ix) greater uncertainty of market values given market stagnation in recent years and volatility of property prices; and
x) the relative illiquidity of real estate investments compared with other types of assets, which may affect PEPR’s ability to react 

promptly to changes in economic or other conditions.

The above factors may affect PEPR’s results of operations, net cash flow and the market price and NAV per Unit.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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25 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
25.2 Market risks
i) PEPR faces competition in each of its markets due to significant resources available to competitors which can cause a reduction in 

rental income and negatively impact PEPR’s results of operations, distributable cash flow and the NAV of ordinary units;
ii) PEPR no longer has direct access to the ProLogis development pipeline through either the SPCA or the EPCA and will rely instead for 

the majority of its potential external growth through third party acquisitions. In addition, PEPR may invest in ProLogis Private Equity 
Funds and ProLogis Joint Ventures in Europe, both of which provide indirect access to the ProLogis development pipeline. 

iii) PEPR’s investments are concentrated in the industrial logistics sector and therefore its business would be adversely affected by an 
economic downturn in that sector. As at 31 December 2010, 55.37% of PEPR’s customers (as measured by annualised rental 
income) were third party logistics companies, 14.62% were retailers, 21.99% were manufacturers and 8.03% were others;

iv) Operating results and distributable cash flow are dependent on the continued generation of lease revenues from customers and may 
adversely affect PEPR in an event of an economic downturn in these customers’ businesses, or by these customers failing to make 
rental payments that might reduce cash flow to PEPR from the lease;

v) PEPR’s business may be adversely affected if it is unable to renew leases or re-lease space on favourable terms as leases expire;
vi) Increased maintenance and redevelopment costs could negatively affect PEPR’s results of operations as the average age of the 

properties in the portfolio increases over time;
vii) Property valuations are inherently subjective and uncertain with no assurance that the valuations would reflect actual sales prices. 

The absence of comparable market transactions in a stagnant investment market increases the reliance on valuers’ judgement; and
viii) PEPR’s insurance coverage does not cover all potential losses such as acts of war or riots as the Management Company does not feel 

it is economically feasible or prudent to do so. PEPR does have the benefit of insurance coverage, including property, liability, fire, 
flood, earthquake, environmental, terrorism, extended coverage and rental loss as these are items the Management Company 
considers appropriate for the markets where each of PEPR’s distribution facilities are located.

25.3 Specific risks to PEPR
i) ProLogis may have investment objectives and policies comparable to those of PEPR and may compete with PEPR in particular with 

Distribution Facilities developed or redeveloped by ProLogis;
ii) Changes in tax laws, regulations or interpretations by tax authorities could increase tax liabilities and require changes in PEPR’s 

structure, which could negatively affect its distributable cash flow;
iii) PEPR is within the scope of the French 3% real estate holding tax, although exempt without any disclosure requirement as an entity 

listed on a regulated market, Euronext Amsterdam, and actively traded on the main compartment of that market. All of PEPR’s 100% 
direct or indirect French subsidiaries also benefit from this automatic exemption under the new French 3% tax rules without any 
declaratory obligations; and

iv) In the absence of cause, the Management Company cannot be removed and this may adversely affect the market price of PEPR’s 
ordinary units. The Management Company can only be removed or replaced (i) without cause, by a vote of 67% of ordinary units, on 
15 September 2016 and every fifth year thereafter, or (ii) by a simple majority of ordinary units at any time in the event of gross 
negligence, wilful misconduct or fraud and (iii) the failure of ProLogis to observe ownership requirements as set out in the 
Management Regulations.

25.4 Risk diversification rules and borrowing restrictions
i) Pending investment or reinvestment of the proceeds from the sale of distribution facilities or distributions, sales and/or redemption 

proceeds of ProLogis private equity funds and ProLogis joint ventures, the cash assets of PEPR will be invested in liquid euro or 
sterling denominated money market instruments, time deposits or debt securities;

ii) In relation to the above point, PEPR may not invest or hold more than 10% of its net assets in money market instruments, debt 
securities of a single issuer or debt securities that are neither listed nor dealt with on a Regulated Market;

iii) PEPR will not invest more than 20% of its net asset value, directly or indirectly in a single property or a company, or other investment 
vehicle which is partly owned by PEPR and which PEPR does not control;

iv) PEPR has (i) the right to subscribe up to 30% of equity securities issued by any ProLogis private equity fund in Europe, and (ii) the 
right to participate in ProLogis joint ventures;

v) PEPR shall not be required to pay a subscription or placement fee with respect to investments made in the ProLogis private equity 
funds or ProLogis joint ventures;

vi) PEPR did not enter into or invest in options, futures or other derivative transactions for speculative purposes but may enter into such 
transactions for currency or interest rate hedging;

vii) PEPR and its consolidated subsidiaries may not incur additional indebtedness which would cause the value of total indebtedness to 
exceed 60% of the aggregate valuation of its investment in property and associates as at the most recent valuation day; and
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viii) For the purpose of effective cash management, PEPR may exceed the indebtedness limit of 60% for temporary or short-term 

purposes for up to six months provided that such total indebtedness shall not exceed 65% of the aggregate valuation of its investment 
in property and associates as at the most recent valuation day.

25.5 Credit risk 
PEPR’s earnings, distributable cash flow and its net asset value could be adversely affected if a significant number of its customers are 
unable to meet their lease obligations or credit institutions to meet their obligations under derivatives contracts. Credit risks, or the risk of 
counterparties defaulting, are controlled by the application of credit approvals, limits and monitoring procedures. Where appropriate, 
PEPR obtains collateral in the form of bank deposits and/or bank or parent company guarantees.

To ensure that customers continue to be able to meet their credit terms, the financial viability of customers is kept under review.

PEPR has no significant concentrations of credit risk. PEPR has a large and diverse range of customers and swap counterparties (see 
Note 25.10), and thus concentrations of credit risk in any particular geographic location or industry are considered low.

PEPR’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the balance of accounts receivable, as reduced by the effects of any netting 
arrangements with counterparties (e.g. tenant security deposits), the balance of the hedging instruments receivable disclosed in the 
consolidated statement of financial position and cash and derivatives held with financial institutions.

25.6 Currency risk
PEPR is subject to fluctuations in currency exchange rates as a consequence of the revenues of its property-owning subsidiaries being 
denominated in currencies other than the Euro. In particular, PEPR has a material interest in Distribution Facilities in the UK resulting in 
sterling exposure, and it is also exposed to variations in Polish zloty, Czech koruna, Hungarian forint and Swedish krona. The Management 
Company presently does not use, and does not contemplate using, derivative transactions for hedging purposes to mitigate risks resulting 
from fluctuations in currency exchange rates, if any, between the euro and any other national currency of the countries where PEPR’s 
Distribution Facilities are located. As a result, PEPR’s results of operations, balance sheet and net cash flow have been, and could in the 
future be, affected by such fluctuations. According to the nature of the asset or liability, this exposure is either recorded against the 
“Cumulative foreign currency translation adjustment” in the other comprehensive income or against “Finance expense” in the 
consolidated income statement.

Sterling Polish zloty Czech kron
Hungarian 

forint Swedish krona

Closing 31 December 2010 0.850300 3.990900 25.275000 276.180000 8.979500
Average 2010 0.859911 4.001591 25.339757 275.192135 9.593017
Closing 31 December 2009 0.889950 4.181800 26.130000 278.350000 10.438000
Average 2009 0.893187 4.326568 26.435742 280.017088 10.645173

PEPR obtains financing in currencies other than euro (refer to Note 11) and thus exposed to the fluctuations of the exchange rates of 
those currencies.

Under secured notes (CMBS) arrangements, SPEs borrow euro denominated debt (notes) and lend predominantly sterling denominated 
debt to other subsidiaries of PEPR to finance property acquisitions. The SPEs have entered into Cross Currency Swaps (CCSs) with ABN 
Amro Bank London Branch, JPMorgan Chase Bank and Bank of America N.A. to hedge the risk of fluctuating foreign exchange rates of 
the euro against sterling. Each of the CCSs exactly matches the critical terms of a corresponding sterling tranche of the notes issued: the 
amount, the currency, the maturity, the interest rate and the interest payment dates. At the time the Issuer enters into CCSs, these are 
designated as fair value hedges. All the CCSs matured on repayment of the CMBS debt during 2010. A description of the accounting 
treatment of the fair value hedges is given in Note 2.11.

A table showing the cross currency swaps and the financial instruments to which they relate is included in Note 25.8.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
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The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in sterling and other foreign currency (Swedish krone, 
Polish zloty, Czech Koruna, Hungarian forint, U.S. dollar) exchange rates, with all other variables held constant, to PEPR’s profit before 
tax and other comprehensive income (due to the changes in the unhedged portion of the non-euro borrowing and other monetary assets 
and liabilities).

 

Increase/
decrease in 
basis points

Effect on profit 
before tax 

€000 

Effect on other 
comprehensive 

income 
€000

31 December 2010
Sterling +10 – 23,240 
Other currencies +10 484 365 
Sterling -10 –  (23,240)
Other currencies -10  (484)  (365)

31 December 2009
Sterling +10 – 23,562 
Other currencies +10 15 268 
Sterling -10 –  (23,562)
Other currencies -10  (15)  (268)

25.7 Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of funding through 
appropriate and adequate credit lines and the ability of customers to settle obligations within normal terms of credit.

In order to spread liquidity risk, PEPR has financed its activities through a variety of instruments in the capital markets and with a 
number of banks. The debt maturity profile is managed by spreading the contractual repayments dates. As of 31 December 2010, 0.3% 
of PEPR’s outstanding debt (2009: 28.2%) was due to be repaid within the following 12 months, based on the carrying value of 
borrowings reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

PEPR ensures, through the forecasting and budgeting of cash needs, that it maintains sufficient short-term liquidity to meet its 
immediate payment requirements. As of 31 December 2010, PEPR had €40 million (2009: €227 million) in undrawn capacity under its 
existing credit facilities. 

The table below summarises the maturity profile of PEPR’s total debt as at 31 December 2010 based on contractual undiscounted 
payments (refer to Note 25.8 for an analysis of the financial derivatives).

 

On 
Demand 

€000

< 6 
months 

€000

6 to 12 
months 

€000

13 to 24 
months 

€000

3 to 5 
years 
€000

> 5 
years 
€000

Total 
€000

31 December 2010
Loans outstanding – 2,293 2,292 6,162 1,559,848 – 1,570,595
Interest payable 16,603 44,053 43,442 85,597 137,916 – 327,611
Trade and other payables – 33,900 – – – – 33,900

31 December 2009
Loans outstanding – 91,303 373,712 1,425 1,172,503 – 1,638,943
Interest payable 11,445 42,417 36,407 71,724 158,258 – 320,251
Trade and other payables – 42,215 – – – – 42,215

One of the Management Company’s prime objectives is to endeavour to return to an investment grade rating, working towards this the 
Management Company continues its deleveraging activities including utilising operating cash flow with the continued suspension of 
dividends. Once this objective has been achieved the interest payable to maturity of the Eurobonds will reduce at the next coupon date 
from that assumed above.
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25.8 Interest rate risk
PEPR’s interest rate risk arises from issuing secured notes, obtaining secured and unsecured bank loans. Borrowings at variable rates 
expose PEPR to cash flow interest rate risk. PEPR manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating to fixed interest rate swaps 
(IRS). Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings at floating rate to fixed rate debt.

To hedge the risk of rising interest rates, PEPR directly or through SPEs has entered into IRS agreements with ABN Amro Bank London 
Branch, JPMorgan Chase Bank, Bank of America N.A., Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG, Eurohypo AG, Helaba, Crédit Agricole S.A, Berlin-
Hannoversche Hypothekenbank AG (Berlin Hyp) and Goldman Sachs (“swap counterparties”) regulated by the International Swaps and 
Derivatives Association (ISDA). Each one of the IRSs exactly matches the critical terms of a corresponding amount of the notes issued: 
the amount, the currency, the maturity, the interest rate and the interest payment dates.

As at 31 December 2010, 83.2% (2009: 60.9%) of PEPR’s debt obligations were effectively at fixed rates taking into account the 
interest rate swap arrangements (with all variable rate debt obligations comprising PEPR’s unsecured credit facility).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, to 
PEPR’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) and other comprehensive income (through the impact of cash 
flow hedges).

 

Increase/
decrease in 
basis points

Effect on profit 
before tax 

€000 

Effect on other 
comprehensive 

income 
€000

31 December 2010
Euribor +25 348 3,923 
Sterling Libor +25 347 1,110 
Stibor +25 – 297 
Euribor -25  (348)  (3,961)
Sterling Libor -25  (347)  (1,118)
Stibor -25 –  (300)

31 December 2009
Euribor +25 1,570 2,293 
Sterling Libor +25 347 1,183 
Stibor +25 – 331 
Euribor -25  (1,570)  (2,319)
Sterling Libor -25  (347)  (1,195)
Stibor -25 –  (335)

Interest rate and fair value
The following table sets out the carrying value (before deduction of unamortised transaction costs) and fair value by maturity of PEPR’s 
financial instruments which are exposed to interest rate risk.

Instruments at floating rate have had their fair value assessed against current market interest spreads and the present value of payments 
to be made under the agreement. Instruments which are at fixed rate have a fair value calculated as the present value of payments to be 
made under the loan agreement.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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31 December 2010
<1 year 

€000
1 to 5 years 

€000
>5 years 

€000
Total 

€000

Fixed rate
Obligations under Eurobonds loans  
Carrying value – (493,750) – (493,750)
Fair value – (511,031) – (511,031)

Floating rate 
Carrying value before the deduction of transaction costs:
Cash and cash equivalents 22,766 – – 22,766
Secured bank loans (4,585) (808,017) – (812,602)
Unsecured bank loans – (264,243) – (264,243)
Interest rate swap – (19,643) – (19,643)
Fair value:
Cash and cash equivalents 22,766 – – 22,766
Secured bank loans (4,585) (820,122) – (824,707)
Unsecured bank loans – (265,721) – (265,721)
Interest rate swap – (19,643) – (19,643)

31 December 2009
<1 year 

€000
1 to 5 years 

€000
>5 years 

€000
Total 

€000

Fixed rate
Obligations under Eurobonds loans     
Carrying value – (495,750) – (495,750)
Fair value – (463,526) – (463,526)

Floating rate
Carrying value before the deduction of transaction costs (approximated fair value):
Cash and cash equivalents 64,530 – – 64,530
Secured bank loans (1,425) (410,406) – (411,831)
Unsecured bank loans (373,000) (267,772) – (640,772)
Secured notes (90,590) – – (90,590)
Interest rate swap (1,152) (4,826) – (5,978)
Cross currency swap (335) – – (335)

Interest on floating rate financial instruments is reset at intervals of less than one year. Interest on financial instruments classified as 
fixed rate is fixed until maturity of the instrument. The other financial instruments of PEPR not included in the above tables are non-
interest bearing, but given their short-term nature are not subject to interest rate risk.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table shows an analysis of the fair values of financial instruments recognised in the consolidated statement of financial 
position by level of fair value hierarchy.

Level 1 
€000

Level 2 
€000

Level 3 
€000

Total 
€000

31 December 2010
Interest rate swaps –  (19,643) –  (19,643)
Cross currency swaps – – – –

31 December 2009
Interest rate swaps –  (5,978) –  (5,978)
Cross currency swaps – (335) – (335) 
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Hedging instruments – interest rate swaps
PEPR entered into interest rate swap contracts whereby it pays a fixed rate of interest of between 3.89% and 5.93% and receives a 
variable rate based on Euribor, Sterling Libor, or Stibor as applicable. The swap is used to hedge the exposure to the variable interest 
rate payments on the variable rate secured loans (Note 11). Set out below is a summary of the terms and fair value of the interest rate 
swap agreements. 

Facility Maturity

Notional 
amount  

(000)
Fixed rate 

percentage

31 December
2010
€000

31 December 
2009
€000

Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG Mar 2013 €126,000 4.99% (2,991) (1,590)
Eurohypo AG Jul 2013 £86,145 5.93% (4,870) (2,322)
Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale Oct 2014 SEK330,880 5.93% (248) (542)
Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale Oct 2014 €15,417 5.19% (458) (173)
Crédit Agricole CIB Mar 2013 £43,000 5.05% (1,317) 63
Landesbank Hessen-Thüringen Girozentrale Jan 2013 €45,300 4.34% (820) (262)
Berlin-Hannoversche Hypothekenbank AG
– Tranche 1 Jan 2014 €48,300 3.95% (812) –
Berlin-Hannoversche Hypothekenbank AG
– Tranche 2 Jan 2014 €25,700 3.89% (390) –
Goldman Sachs syndicated loan – Tranche 1 Jan 2014 €140,000 5.18% (2,914) –
Goldman Sachs syndicated loan – Tranche 2 Jan 2014 €100,000 5.12% (1,908) –
Goldman Sachs syndicated loan – Tranche 3 Jan 2014 €60,000 5.16% (1,219) –
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG Dec 2013 £24,255 5.42% (1,013) –
Deutsche Pfandbriefbank AG Dec 2013 €38,487 4.80% (683) –
Pan European Industrial Properties Series III S.A.
ABN Amro – Class A May 2010 €1,652 4.23% – (18)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series III S.A.
ABN Amro – Class B May 2010 €4,901 4.36% – (53)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series III S.A.
ABN Amro – Class C May 2010 €6,393 4.73% – (68)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series III S.A.
JP Morgan Chase – Class B May 2010 €4,901 4.36% – (53)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series III S.A.
JP Morgan Chase – Class C May 2010 €6,393 4.73% – (68)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
ABN Amro – Class B – Euro May 2010 €10,607 3.33% – (87)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
ABN Amro – Class C – Euro May 2010 €8,407 3.45% – (69)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
ABN Amro – Class A – GBP May 2010 £5,942 5.09% – (115)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
ABN Amro – Class B – GBP May 2010 £1,762 5.13% – (11)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
ABN Amro – Class C – GBP May 2010 £1,101 5.26% – (7)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
Bank of America – Class B – Euro May 2010 €13,451 3.33% – (110)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
Bank of America – Class C – Euro May 2010 €8,407 3.45% – (69)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
Bank of America – Class A – GBP May 2010 £5,942 5.09% – (115)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
Bank of America – Class B – GBP May 2010 £1,762 5.13% – (11)
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
Bank of America – Class C – GBP May 2010 £1,101 5.26% – (7)

Interest rate swap fair value (19,643) (5,687)

The loans and interest rate swaps have the same critical terms and are fully effective.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
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Hedging instruments – cross currency swaps
PEPR had also entered into cross currency swaps over the sterling notional amount of the Pan European Industrial Properties  
Series IV S.A.

Facility Maturity
Notional 

amount (000)
Fixed 

exchange rate

31 December
2010
€000

31 December 
2009
€000

Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
ABN Amro – Class A – GBP May 2010 £5,942 0.6912 – 1,920
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
ABN Amro – Class B – GBP May 2010 £1,762 0.6912 – 569
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
ABN Amro – Class C – GBP May 2010 £1,101 0.6912 – 356
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
Bank of America – Class A – GBP May 2010 £5,942 0.6912 – 1,920
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
Bank of America – Class B – GBP May 2010 £1,762 0.6912 – 569
Pan European Industrial Properties Series IV S.A.
Bank of America – Class C – GBP May 2010 £1,101 0.6912 – 356
Citibank N.A – Reverse hedge to lock in gain May 2010 £17,610 0.8622 – (556)

Cross currency swap fair value – 5,134

Movements in hedge values are as follows:

 

31 December
2010 
€000

31 December
2009 
€000

Net balance at the beginning of the year (553) 83,750

Movement in fair value of interest rate swaps (14,552) 1,139
Interest rate swaps terminated during the year 596 3,133
Movement in fair value of cross currency swaps 3,924 (10,140)
Cross currency swaps terminated during the year (9,058) (78,435)

Net variation during the year (19,090) (84,303)

Net balance at the end of the year (19,643) (553)

Restricted cash – positive hedge values – 5,760
Hedging instruments, long-term – negative hedge values (19,643) (4,826)
Hedging instruments, short-term – negative hedge values – (1,487)

(19,643) (553)

As at 31 December 2009 PEPR had restricted proceeds related to the swaps of the secured notes of €5.8 million, these swaps matured 
in 2010 and the restricted proceeds were released.

26 Contingent liabilities and commitments
Contingent liabilities
PEPR, through its direct and indirect subsidiaries, is contingently liable with respect to lawsuits and other matters that arise in the normal 
course of business. The Management Company is of the opinion that while it is impossible to accurately ascertain the ultimate legal and 
financial liability with respect to these contingencies, the ultimate outcome of these contingencies is not anticipated to have a material 
effect on PEPR’s financial position and operations.

Commitments
There are no material commitments for capital improvements or construction contracts as at 31 December 2010 (2009: €nil). 



ProLogis European Properties Annual Report 201074

Financial Statements 

27 List of consolidated entities at 31 December 2010
Companies Incorporated in Luxembourg
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis European Holdings S.à r.l. ProLogis France XX S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings II S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXI S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings IV S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings VI S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings VII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings VIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings IX S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XV S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XVI S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XVII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XVIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXX S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Holdings XIX S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance II S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance IV S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance VI S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance VII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance VIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XL S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance IX S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLI S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XV S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XVI S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLV S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XVII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XVIII S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis European Finance XIX S.à r.l. ProLogis France XLIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis International Funding S.A. ProLogis France LII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium S.à r.l. ProLogis France LIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium II S.à r.l. ProLogis France LVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium V S.à r.l. ProLogis France CX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium VI S.à r.l. ProLogis France CXVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Belgium VIII S.à r.l. PLD Germany V S.à r.l.
ProLogis Czech Republic S.à r.l. ProLogis Germany S.à r.l.
ProLogis Czech Republic II S.à r.l. ProLogis Germany XIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Czech Republic III S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy III S.à r.l
ProLogis Czech Republic IV S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy V S.à r.l
ProLogis Czech Republic VII S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy IX S.à r.l
ProLogis Czech Republic XII S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy XIV S.à r.l
ProLogis Czech Republic XIII S.à r.l. ProLogis Italy XXV S.à r.l
ProLogis France III S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands S.à r.l.
ProLogis France IV S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands I S.à r.l.
ProLogis France V S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands II S.à r.l.
ProLogis France VI S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands III S.à r.l.
ProLogis France IX S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands V S.à r.l.
ProLogis France X S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands VII S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XI S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands IX S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XIII S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands XI S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XV S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands XIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XVI S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands XV S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XVII S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands XVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XVIII S.à r.l. ProLogis Netherlands XIX S.à r.l.
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ProLogis Netherlands XX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Netherlands XXII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland II S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland III S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland X S.à r.l ProLogis UK XVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XI S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XVI S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XIII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XV S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XXVIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XIX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XXXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XXII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXXV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XXVIII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XXXVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XXIX S.à r.l ProLogis UK XL S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XXXIV S.à r.l ProLogis UK XLI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Poland XLVIII S.à r.l ProLogis UK XLV S.à r.l.
ProLogis S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XLVI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XLVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain II S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain III S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LVII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain IV S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain V S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain VI S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain VII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain VIII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXIX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain IX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXX S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain X S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXXI S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain XI S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXXII S.à r.l.
ProLogis Spain XII S.à r.l. ProLogis UK LXXXIII S.à r.l.
ProLogis UK II S.à r.l. ProLogis UK XC S.à r.l.
ProLogis UK III S.à r.l. ProLogis UK CC S.à r.l.
ProLogis UK IV S.à r.l. ProLogis UK CCI S.à r.l.
ProLogis UK IX S.à r.l. ProLogis UK CCLXIV S.à r.l.
ProLogis UK X S.à r.l. ProLogis UK CCLXVIII S.à r.l.

Companies Incorporated in Belgium:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Belgium I Bvba ProLogis Belgium VI Bvba
ProLogis Belgium II Bvba ProLogis Belgium VIII Bvba
ProLogis Belgium V Bvba

Companies Incorporated in Czech Republic:
(Unless otherwise stated, all the Companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Czech Republic II Sro ProLogis Czech Republic XI Sro 
ProLogis Czech Republic III Sro ProLogis Czech Republic XII Sro
ProLogis Czech Republic IV Sro ProLogis Czech Republic XIII Sro
ProLogis Czech Republic VII Sro ProLogis Czech Republic XIV Sro
ProLogis Czech Republic X Sro
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27 List of consolidated entities at 31 December 2010 continued
Companies Incorporated in France:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Angeloir S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXIII Eurl
ProLogis Artoilog S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXIV Eurl
ProLogis Bre Francilienne 2 S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXV Eurl
ProLogis Bre Francilienne Compans S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVI Eurl
ProLogis Bre Francilienne S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVII Eurl
ProLogis Bre Orbium S.à r.l. ProLogis France XXXVIII Sarl
ProLogis Chesnes Nord ProLogis France XXXIX Eurl
ProLogis France I Eurl ProLogis France XL Eurl
ProLogis France II Eurl ProLogis France XLI Eurl
ProLogis France III Eurl ProLogis France XLIII Eurl
ProLogis France VI Eurl ProLogis France XLIV Eurl
ProLogis France VII Eurl ProLogis France XLV Eurl
ProLogis France VIII Eurl ProLogis France XLVII Eurl
ProLogis France XII Eurl ProLogis France XLVIII Eurl
ProLogis France XIII Eurl ProLogis France XLIX Eurl
ProLogis France XIV Eurl ProLogis France LII Eurl
ProLogis France XV Eurl ProLogis France LIII Eurl
ProLogis France XVII Eurl ProLogis France LVII Eurl
ProLogis France XVIII Eurl ProLogis France II S.à r.l.
ProLogis France XIX Eurl SCI ProLogis Carrefour de l’Europe
ProLogis France XX Eurl SCI ProLogis Copernic
ProLogis France XXI Eurl SCI ProLogis Crépy Paris Nord
ProLogis France XXII Eurl SCI ProLogis d’Ormes
ProLogis France XXIII Eurl SCI ProLogis Le Parc
ProLogis France XXIV Eurl SCI ProLogis Plessis Pate
ProLogis France XXV Eurl SCI ProLogis Plessis Pate 2
ProLogis France XXVI Eurl SNC ProLogis Aulnay Extension Ouest
ProLogis France XXX Eurl SCI ProLogis Croisée des Autoroutes Lorraines
ProLogis France XXXI Eurl ProLogis Sofinvest Société Financière d’Investissements
ProLogis France CX Eurl

Companies Incorporated in Germany:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Deutschland GmbH ProLogis Verwaltung GmbH & Köln Eifeltor KG
ProLogis Verwaltung GmbH

Companies Incorporated in Hungary:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Hungary Kft ProLogis Hungary TEN Kft
Harbor Park Ingatlanmukodteto Kft ProLogis Hungary Finance Kft
Harbor Park Ingatlanfejleszto Kft (55.665%) ProLogis Italian Finance Kft
ProLogis Hungary TWO Epitesi es Beruhazasi Kft ProLogis Finance Kft

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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27 List of consolidated entities at 31 December 2010 continued
Companies Incorporated in Italy:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Italy Ia Srl ProLogis Italy VI 2 Srl
ProLogis Italy Ib Srl ProLogis Italy VII Srl
ProLogis Italy Ic Srl ProLogis Italy VIIb Srl
ProLogis Italy Id Srl ProLogis Italy IX Srl
ProLogis Italy II Srl ProLogis Italy IX a Srl
ProLogis Italy VIa Srl ProLogis Italy X Srl
ProLogis Italy VI 1 Srl ProLogis Italy XXV Srl

Companies Incorporated in Jersey:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

The Bermuda Park Unit Trust 

Companies Incorporated in The Netherlands:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

PLD Germany V BV (94.8%) ProLogis Germany XXIX BV (94.4%)
PLD Germany VII BV (94.8%) ProLogis Germany XXXI BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Finance BV ProLogis Germany XXXV BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany II BV (94.4%) ProLogis Germany XXXVI BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany IV BV ProLogis Germany XXXIX BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany XII BV (94.8%) ProLogis Germany XLI BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany XIX BV ProLogis Germany XLIII BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany XV BV (94.8%) ProLogis Germany XLVI BV (94.4%)
ProLogis Germany XVII BV (94.4%) ProLogis Poland Finance BV
ProLogis Germany XXII BV (94.4%) ProLogis Realty I BV
ProLogis Germany XXIII BV (94.4%) ProLogis Realty II BV
ProLogis Germany XXV BV (94.4%)

Companies Incorporated in Poland:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Poland XI Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXIV Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XIII Spzoo ProLogis Poland XLVIII Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XVI Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXV Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XIX Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXVI Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XXII Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXVII Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XXVIII Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXVIII Spzoo
ProLogis Poland XXIX Spzoo ProLogis Poland XXXIX Spzoo

Companies Incorporated in Spain:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Spain 1 SL ProLogis Spain VIII SL 
ProLogis Spain II SL ProLogis Spain IX SL
ProLogis Spain III SL ProLogis Spain X SL
ProLogis Spain IV SL ProLogis Spain XI SL
ProLogis Spain V SL ProLogis Spain XII SL
ProLogis Spain VI SL ProLogis Spain XIII SL
ProLogis Spain VII SL ProLogis Central European Finance SL
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27 List of consolidated entities at 31 December 2010 continued
Companies Incorporated in Sweden:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

ProLogis Sweden I AB ProLogis Sweden Nörrkoping AB
ProLogis Sweden Gothenburg AB ProLogis Sweden Örebro AB
ProLogis Holding AB

Companies Incorporated in the United Kingdom:
(Unless otherwise stated, all companies 100% owned by PEPR)

1&2 Buncefield Lane (No.1) Limited ProLogis Apex Park DC 3 (No.1) Limited
1&2 Buncefield Lane (No. 2) Limited ProLogis Apex Park DC 3 (No.2) Limited
Interlink Park Management Company Limited (21%) ProLogis Marston Gate Plot 1 (No.1) Limited 
ProLogis Corby Limited ProLogis Park Bromford Gate Management Company Limited 
ProLogis Grange Park Plot 6 Zone A (No.1) Limited ProLogis Marston Gate Plot 1 (No.2) Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Plot 6 Zone A (No.2) Limited ProLogis Marston Gate Plot 3 (No.1) Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Plot 6 Zone A (No.3) Limited ProLogis Marston Gate Plot 3 (No.2) Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Zone A Unit 4 (1) Limited ProLogis Wakefield Limited
ProLogis Grange Park Zone A Unit 4 (2) Limited ProLogis Wakefield DC 2 (No.1) Limited
ProLogis (Plot 1200 Central Park Rugby No.1) Limited ProLogis Wakefield DC 2 (No.2) Limited
ProLogis (Plot 1200 Central Park Rugby No.2) Limited ProLogis Keresley Limited
ProLogis Kettering (Number 1) Limited

28 Subsequent events
28.1 Distributions
PEPR paid a preferred dividend distribution to holders of its Class A (1) convertible preferred units (“Preferred Units”) on 14 February 
2011. The distribution of €1.6 million (€0.159122 per unit) relates to the period from 1 October 2010 to 31 December 2010.

28.2 Proposed Merger between ProLogis and AMB Property Corporation 
On 30 January 2011, ProLogis, the owner of the Management Company of PEPR, entered into a definitive Agreement (the “Merger 
Agreement”), with AMB Property Corporation (AMB). The Merger is subject to customary closing conditions, including receipt of approval 
of ProLogis shareholders and AMB stockholders and certain regulatory approvals. ProLogis currently expect the transactions contemplated 
by the Merger Agreement to close during the second quarter of 2011. There are no contractual “change of control” provisions or other 
direct impacts on PEPR arising from the proposed merger.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements continued
For the year ended 31 December 2010
(Unless otherwise stated, amounts are expressed in thousands of euros)
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Annualised rental income An estimate of annual rental income 
based on the gross rental income of leases in place as at the 
reporting date, assuming that this rental income will be 
received, at the same level, for the whole of the financial year. 
It does not take into account lease terminations, renewals, rent 
incentives, replacement of customers of other changes in rent 
levels on the existing leases.

Basis point (BPS) A unit that is equal to 1/100th of 1% i.e. 
0.01%.

Earnings per share (EPS) IFRS earnings after taxation 
attributable to ordinary unitholders divided by the weighted 
average number of ordinary units in issue during the year.

EPRA European Public Real Estate Association.

EPRA earnings IFRS earnings adjusted in line with EPRA “Best 
Practice Policy Recommendations” issued in October 2010.

EPRA EPS EPRA earnings attributable to ordinary unitholders 
divided by the weighted average number of ordinary units in 
issue during the year.

EPRA net asset value (NAV) NAV adjusted in line with EPRA 
“Best Practice Policy Recommendations” issued in October 
2010

EPRA NAV per Unit EPRA NAV attributable to ordinary 
unitholders divided by the number of ordinary units in issue at 
the period end.

Estimated rental value (ERV) The external valuers’ opinion as 
to the rent which could reasonably be expected to be obtained 
on a new letting of a property as determined on a bi-annual 
basis. This may differ from the current rent being paid.

Euribor The Euro Interbank Offered Rate, the interest rate 
charged by one bank to another for lending money within the 
EMU zone.

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Interest cover The number of times net interest expense is 
covered by gross profit less fund expenses.

Lease (or rent) incentives Any incentives offered to occupiers to 
enter into a lease. Typically the incentive will be an initial 
rent-free period, a discount over a fixed period or a cash 
contribution to fit-out or similar costs. Under accounting rules 
the value of lease incentives given to occupiers is amortised 
through the income statement on a straight-line basis to the 
earliest lease termination date.

LIBOR The London Interbank Offered Rate, the interest rate 
charged by one bank to another for lending money in Great 
British Pounds. 

Loan to Value (LTV) The ratio of gross debt to the aggregate 
gross portfolio value.

Mark to market The difference between the book value of an 
asset or liability and its Market Value.

Market Value (MV) Market Value is determined by the external 
valuers, in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards. 
Market Value is defined as: “The estimated amount for which a 
property should exchange on the date of valuation between a 
willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-length transaction 
after proper marketing wherein the parties had acted 
knowledgeably, prudently and without compulsion”. Market 
Value is understood as the value of the property estimated 
without regard to costs of sale or purchase, including stamp 
duty, agent and legal fees.

Net asset value (NAV) IFRS equity attributable to unitholders

Net asset value (NAV) per ordinary unit IFRS equity 
attributable to ordinary unitholders divided by the number of 
ordinary units in issue at the period end.

Net initial yield The net rental income receivable on the 
reporting date, after deduction of non-recoverable costs, 
expressed as a percentage of the gross asset value.

Over-rented The amount by which the ERV falls short of 
passing rents, together with the ERV of vacant space.

Purchasers costs The costs associated with a property 
acquisition. These typically include transfer taxation, agents 
fees, legal fees and associated VAT or equivalent.

Weighted average debt maturity Each tranche of debt is 
multiplied by the remaining period to its maturity and the result 
is divided by total debt in issue at the period end.

Weighted average interest rate Interest expense over the 
period, divided by average gross debt in issue over the period. 
Transaction costs are excluded.

Weighted average lease term to lease break The average lease 
term remaining to first break across the portfolio weighted by 
rental income. This calculation assumes all break clauses are 
exercised at the earliest date. 

Weighted average lease term to lease expiry The average  
lease term remaining to expiry across the portfolio weighted  
by rental income. This calculation assumes no break clauses 
are exercised.

Glossary
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79 Glossary

ProLogis European Properties (PEPR) is one of Europe’s 
largest owners of high quality distribution and logistics 
facilities. We are 100% focused on the industrial real 
estate sector and our portfolio comprises 232 modern 
facilities, covering 4.9 million square metres in some of 
the most strategic locations across Europe. 

We have a strong and diversified customer base enabling 
us to maintain high levels of occupancy and to support 
the stability of cash flows from our portfolio. With a 
presence in 11 European countries, we provide customers 
with a pan-European platform to meet their warehousing 
needs and to add efficiencies to their supply chain. At the 
end of December 2010, our real estate portfolio had an 
occupancy level of 94.5% and was independently valued 
at €2.8 billion. 

PEPR was established in 1999 as a closed-end, real 
estate investment fund, externally managed by ProLogis 
(NYSE: PLD). In September 2006, PEPR was listed on 
Euronext Amsterdam.
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